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This annual report of the Media Development and Diversity Agency (MDDA) 
describes and details the activities of the Agency for the period 1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018. 

This report has been prepared for submission to the Executive Authority 
and the Parliament of South Africa in line with the requirements of the Public  
Finance Management Act (No 1 of 1999) and the MDDA Act (No 14 of 2002).

The Media Development and Diversity Agency (MDDA) is a statutory  
development agency for promoting and ensuring media development and 
diversity, set up as a partnership between the South African Government 
and major print and broadcasting companies to assist in (amongst others) 
developing community and small commercial media in South Africa. It was 
established in 2003, in terms of the MDDA Act No. 14 of 2002, and started 
providing grant funding to projects on 29 January 2004.
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5MDDA Value Propositionoposition

“Integrated development services and resources that enable media development and diversity”

Vision

An accessible, transformed and diversified media

Values

• Accountability
 We are responsible for our actions, decisions and policies as well as reporting and communicating 

our outcomes.
• Inclusivity
 We embrace and celebrate the richness of diversity and recognise the differing skills, experiences 

and perspectives of each beneficiary/community.
• Integrity
 We are honest, transparent, reliable, fair, accountable and responsible for our actions.
• Ubuntu 
 We are empathetic, courteous, appreciative and respectful to our staff and clients alike.
• Professionalism
 We are efficient, effective, service delivery orientated, punctual and performance driven and work 

collectively.

Mission

Leading media development, transformation and diversification in South Africa through:

• The creation of a vibrant, innovative and people-centred media.
• A sustained community media through resourcing, skills development and capacity building.
• Working towards a knowledge-based media through proactive research.
• Serving, leading and anticipating the social, economic, technological and environmental needs of 

communities.

Overall Objective

“To ensure that all citizens can access information in a language of their choice and to transform media 
access, ownership and control patterns in South Africa”
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Mandate

The Media Development and Diversity Agency (MDDA) mandate is to:

• Create an enabling environment for media development and diversity which reflects the needs and 
aspirations of all South Africans.

• Redress exclusion and marginalisation of disadvantaged communities and persons from access to 
the media and the media industry.

• Promote media development and diversity by providing support primarily to community and small 
commercial media projects.

• Encourage ownership and control of, and access to, media by historically disadvantaged  
communities, as well as by historically diminished indigenous language and cultural groups.

• Encourage the development of human resources and training, and capacity building, within the  
media industry, especially amongst historically disadvantaged groups.

• Encourage the channelling of resources to the community media and small commercial media  
sectors.

• Raise public awareness with regard to media development and diversity issues.



PART ONE

Introduction
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1.1  MINISTER OF COMMUNICATIONS FOREWORD

The call for social cohesion and the need to  
address unemployment, poverty and inequality 
guides the MDDA’s work in the transformation 
of South Africa’s media landscape. A diverse 
media in society reflects diverse views and  
opinions in a language of the citizen’s choice  
and, we believe, promotes an informed and  
knowledgeable society. This in turn sustains and 
deepens a people-driven democracy and, most 
importantly,  plays a pivotal role in the recon-
struction and development of our nation. 

Furthermore, as the world embraces the essen-
tials of an information society, and the Fourth 
Industrial Revolution becomes ever more of a 
reality, it is critical that all citizens have access 
to the widest range of information in order to par-
ticipate effectively in an increasingly connected 
world. For us as South Africans, such advanc-
es mean new opportunities for redefining new  
media related development approaches. The 
role of the MDDA has never become more  
relevant than now, particularly as we witness 
consolidation of the media houses which threat-
ens diversity of views in the media space.

The MDDA is now nearing the end of its third five 
year generation, having funded its first project in 
2004. In this five year cycle, the MDDA has con-
tinued to accentuate its transformation role not 
only by growing, maintaining and protecting its 
grant and seed funding base, but also through 
its capacity building efforts to assist beneficiaries 
by closing their skills gaps. However, while much 
has been achieved in building a pluralistic and 
transformed media landscape, there is still much 
to be done. This is particularly so for ensuring 
a diversity in content and viewpoints, especially 
those views of poorer people in rural areas as 
well as of women. 

We believe that the South African story must be 
told by South Africans united in their diversity, in 
their own language and expressed in their own 
culture and heritage. 

The mandate guiding the MDDA’s activities is set 
out in the MDDA Act and is in line with the nation-
al policy priorities and the Constitution Act, 1996 
(Act No. 108 of 1996), which are to promote me-
dia development and diversity, media freedom, 
the right to freedom of expression and freedom 
to receive and impart information or ideas. 

It gives me great pleasure as the Executive  
Authority to formally table, to Parliament, the  
Annual Report of the MDDA for the financial year 
from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

Nomvula Mokonyane (MP)
Executive Authority 
Minister of Communications
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1.2  DEPUTY MINISTER OF COMMUNICATIONS FOREWORD

In many ways, the community media landscape 
in South Africa is a metaphor for our own great 
nation, offering considerable potential that is as 
yet not fully exercised. In full swing, community 
media is a powerful tool for social cohesion, a 
budding ground for talent and a critical medium 
of information sharing. In a country such as ours, 
so rich in diversity, community media and media 
plurality are a powerful lever for nation building.

With more than two decades having passed 
since its emergence, the community media sec-
tor has made laudable strides in becoming the 
“voice of the voiceless”, telling stories of commu-
nities that would otherwise not have made it into 
mainstream media. The sector’s unique selling 
point is its diverse content, which mirrors the lives  
and aspirations of ordinary South African citizens 
- diverse content that is relayed in the language 
of the community’s choice. 

While the community media in South Africa must 
be congratulated on its considerable growth 
and outstanding successes, in many areas the 
sector is grappling with staggering sustainability  
issues that are threatening its survival. Challeng-
es range from corporate governance and attract-
ing revenue, to the need to successfully navi-
gate and capitalise on the exponential growth  
in technology that is seeing digitally-led disrup-
tions to the way we consume media. The advent 
of the fourth industrial revolution and the con-
comitant and unprecedented changes in the me-
dia landscape have yielded a multiplicity of news 
platforms, resulting in a radical “democratisation”  
of the media. Community media finds itself in  
this dynamic, but also turbulent, space, whilst  
trying to fill a void which is left by the traditionally  
established media platforms.

Such challenges require urgent interventions, 
both from the State and from stakeholders across 
the sector. The Government, together with the 
MDDA, is fully committed to addressing these 
issues as a priority, seeking not only to support 
the further growth of this vital sector and ensure 

its survival, but also to unlock its potential as a 
catalyst for active citizenry, local economic de-
velopment and nation building.

It gives me great please to table the 2017/2018 
annual report of the MDDA, highlighting the ac-
tivities and achievements of the Agency in the 
delivery of its mandate to transform and diversify 
South Africa’s media landscape.

Pinky Kekana (MP)
Deputy Minister of Communications
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1.3  CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT AND FOREWORD

On behalf of the Board of the Media Development 
and Diversity Agency (MDDA), I present this An-
nual Report covering the MDDA’s activities for 
the financial year 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

The past year was one of mixed fortunes for 
the Agency, as it saw completion, with positive 
findings, of the study into how the MDDA has 
responded to its mandate of community media 
development, while changes and instability at 
Accounting Authority and Executive Manage-
ment level negatively affected achievement of 
annual key performance indicators (KPIs). The 
fact that the Board was unable to form a quorum 
for a large part of the year, due to vacant Board 
positions, affected, most importantly, those KPIs 
relating to grant funding as approval of funding 
for projects is a Board prerogative.  As a result, 
while the MDDA continued to receive and pro-
cess project applications for funding, it was un-
able to enter into as many funding agreements 
with community and small commercial media 
projects as it had planned to achieve.

The Study into the Impact of the MDDA, which 
was commissioned in 2016 and was completed 
in December 2017, concluded that the MDDA 
has been able to carry out different aspects of its 
mandate to a greater or lesser degree and that 
political parties, government and stakeholder 
groups saw the need to build a thriving commu-
nity and small commercial sector.

Through its grant funding, the Agency has chan-
nelled resources to the community and small 
commercial media sector, and, in this way, con-
tributed towards the expansion of ownership and 
control as well as access to media by historically 
disadvantaged communities. This is evidenced 
in the burgeoning of both community and small 
commercial media, which is being published or 
broadcast in all indigenous languages.

The study further noted that, in as much as 
there has been progress, limitations – both in 
terms of the broader media landscape and the 
Agency itself – had impacted on the sector, cit-
ing, for example, a restrictive MDDA budget, and  

technological disruptions within the media indus-
try. Despite the challenges, the study noted that  
media projects presented successes and oppor-
tunities against all odds. 

The findings of the Impact Study will provide key 
input into the MDDA’s strategic planning pro-
cesses, ensuring that it can continue to play a 
vital role in providing media access to all, in a 
rapidly changing media landscape. In addition, 
the Study will be invaluable in the upcoming re-
view of the MDDA Act.

Mandate
The MDDA’s establishment and mandate are pri- 
marily set out through the Media Development and 
Diversity Act no. 14 of 2002. This legislation’s pur- 
pose is “to establish the Media Development and  
Diversity Agency; to provide for its objective and  
functions; to provide for the constitution of the  
Board and the management of the Agency by the 
Board; to provide for the chief executive officer 
and other staff of the Agency; to provide for the 
finances of the Agency; and to provide for the 
support of projects aimed at promoting media 
development and diversity.”

The mandate is encapsulated in Section 3 of the 
MDDA Act of 2002, and speaks to Section 16 
and 32 of the Constitution Act No. 108 of 1996, 
providing for freedom of expression and access 
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to information. The mandate requires that the 
MDDA encourages the ownership and control 
of, and access to media by historically disadvan-
taged communities, as well as by the historical-
ly diminished indigenous language and cultural 
groups. 

In line with the mandate, the media projects fund-
ed are weighted heavily towards the rural areas, 
while increasing emphasis is being placed on 
supporting projects run by and focused on youth, 
women and people living with disabilities. As  
indicated by the Impact Study, of the 275 com- 
munity broadcasting stations, the MDDA has fund-
ed just over half, that is 156 radio stations. With  
regard to the print sector, the MDDA had and / 
or is supporting and funding some 85 titles with 
either start-up capital or finances to strengthen 
pre-existing publications. While community TV 
has not taken off to the same extent, due in part 
to the expense of the medium, the MDDA has 
supported four TV stations.
 
At inception, the MDDA had, as one of its key 
outcomes, the promotion of indigenous languag-
es and cultural groups. As a result, community 
radio and print now appear in a range of indige-
nous languages – all being catered for across the 
provinces and at local level. In addition, with an 
increasing number of women and youth owned/
managed projects, the community media sector 
is contributing strongly to transformation and di-
versity, both in ownership and content.

Community print media is way ahead of its com- 
mercial counterparts who publish primarily in 
English and Afrikaans. Statistics reveal that 85 
community and small commercial print media 
publish in indigenous languages or publish in 
a combination of indigenous and English/Afri-
kaans languages. 

The situation in community broadcasting sector is 
just as encouraging. Today, across the 156 com-
munity radio stations that have received funding, 
the full spectrum of South African languages can 
be heard. What makes these individual commu-
nity stations different from the public broadcast-

er is that each station broadcasts in a range of 
languages that reflects what is being spoken by 
communities at local level.

Matters of Governance
The MDDA is a juristic person, is independent 
and must be impartial, exercising its powers and 
performing its duties without fear, favour or prej-
udice and without any political or commercial in-
terference. In 2017/2018, the Agency continued 
its unbroken record of unqualified audit opinions, 
testimony to the good corporate governance and 
prudent management of the Agency since its in-
ception.

The Board constitutes the fundamental base of 
corporate governance in the MDDA, giving stra-
tegic direction to the MDDA, whilst the Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer (CEO) is entirely responsible for 
the implementation of the strategic business and 
annual performance plans.

The Board of the MDDA has absolute respon-
sibility for the performance of the entity and is 
accountable for such performance. Accordingly, 
the Board is ultimately accountable and respon-
sible to the Minister of Communications for the 
performance and affairs of the MDDA. 

The terms of some Board members came to an 
end in 2017/2018, while others resigned for per- 
sonal or political reasons. With regard to the latter, 
the MDDA congratulates Mr Ronald Lamola on 
his appointment to the ANC’s National Executive 
Committee in December 2017, which prompted 
the need for him to resign from the MDDA Board. 
The MDDA Act precludes people holding political 
office from sitting on the Board.

I would like to thank those members who left the 
Board during the past year for their dedication 
to the Agency, and acknowledge the invaluable 
guidance and leadership they provided to the 
management team. In particular, Ms Phelisa 
Nkomo brought considerable insight, knowledge 
and commitment to the community media sector 
in her role as chairperson of the Board and we 
wish her well in her future endeavours.
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During 2017/2018, the Audit and Risk Committee 
fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, comply-
ing with section 38(1) (a) of the PFMA and Trea-
sury Regulation 3.1. I would like to express the 
Board’s appreciation to Ms Nandipha Madiba 
who chaired the Audit and Risk Committee for 
the past year.

Executive Authority
The MDDA saw changes in its Executive Au-
thority during 2017/2018, with Honourable 
Mmamaloko Kubayi appointed mid-year as the 
Minister of Communications, while Ms Tandi Ma-
hambehlala remained as the Deputy Minister of 
Communications. On behalf of the Board of the 
MDDA, I would like to thank the previous Minister 
of Communications, Ms Ayanda Dlodlo, together 
with Ms Kubayi and Ms Mahambehlala, for their 
invaluable guidance and enthusiasm in support 
of the community media sector. 

Going forward, we are grateful for the commit-
ment shown immediately by our newly appointed 
Executive Authority, the Minister of Communica-
tions, Ms Nomvula Mokonyane, and the Deputy 
Minister of Communications, Ms Pinky Kekana, 
to the promotion of a vibrant and diversified me-
dia in South Africa. This speaks directly to the 
achievement of the transformational agenda out-
lined in the country’s National Development Plan, 
as well as to the principle of freedom of expres-
sion as encapsulated in the Constitution of South 
Africa. 

Funding for the Agency
The MDDA appreciates the trust bestowed upon 
us by the South African Government and the 
mainstream/commercial media industry through 
the funding we receive for the diversification and 
transformation of the media sector. Currently, the 
Agency receives funding from the South African 
Government through the Department of Commu-
nications, and from broadcast service licensees, 
via the USAF levy. Funding from the print sec-
tor ceased in 2014/2015. The MDDA is continu-
ing to engage with this sector as part of a wider  
initiative to strengthen relationships with various 
funders to increase its funding base and play an 
even greater role in championing media diversity.

The funding agreements with broadcasting ser-
vice licensees are aligned to the ICASA regula-
tion and prescribe that each broadcast licensee 

contributes 0.2% of their annual turnover of li-
censed activities. 

Why Community Media?
Community Media, as with the mainstream me-
dia, plays a core role in the dissemination of infor-
mation; but community media goes beyond this - 
to the empowerment of grassroots communities 
by establishing a platform for social dialogue, to 
the formation of political opinion and to civic ed-
ucation. Community media is a cornerstone of 
public participation and active citizenship, pro-
moting transparency, encouraging openness in 
government, and building ownership of develop-
ment decisions. 

Playing a predominant role in strengthening and 
building communities, community media plays a 
constructive role in social cohesion by bringing 
our communities together, cementing the ties be-
tween the various sectors of the community and 
in the building and reconstruction of the social 
fabric of the communities in which it operates. 

Community media is first and foremost participa-
tory, giving the communities the opportunity to 
add their views and aspirations to the public dis-
course in the country. Community media’s man-
date is to report on stories reflecting the commu-
nity ethos and the concerns and aspirations of 
the community. This often means that communi-
ty media reports on the issues that mainstream 
media miss, such as gender inequality. 

Future Directions
As much as there has been progress, challeng-
es facing the community media sector, and the 
Agency itself, are negatively impacting on the 
sustainability of the sector. 

Technology advances within the media industry 
have resulted in media concentration becoming 
an increasing threat as the digital era is disrupt-
ing the way that news is gathered and reported 
on. Key for the MDDA’s broadcasting stakehold-
ers is digital migration where digital terrestrial 
television (DTT) requires members to have the 
equipment and capacity to compete in a digital 
environment. The MDDA has and will continue to 
assist beneficiaries to upgrade from analogue to 
digital studio equipment.

Furthermore, as breaking news is now digital, the 
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MDDA’s beneficiaries - print, radio and television 
- are being provided support in an everchang-
ing media landscape to compete with and take  
advantage of the benefits of online media, includ-
ing social media. Digital migration and its ease of 
application increases access to information at a  
reduced cost and facilitates pluralism and diver-
sity. In this regard, the MDDA recognises the 
need to relook at its funding models and how 
it will assist in rolling out affordable technology 
platforms and communication infrastructure and 
services in order to impact on a diversified alter-
native media. 

Ongoing lobbying by the MDDA, together with 
other sector bodies, for advertising support from 
both the public and private sector remains an 
urgent requirement, as is the mandatory 30% of 
annual adspend to be spent by Government on 
community media.

Non-financial support of community media pro-
jects is also a mandate as stipulated by the 
MDDA Act. While the MDDA has since inception 
trained over 3,000 community media representa-
tives and awarded over 230 bursaries for journal-
ism and media studies, continued and enhanced 
capacity building and training are critical for 
the growth and development of the community  
media sector. 

In building a body of knowledge on media diver-
sity to inform its funding and advocacy activities 
on behalf of community media, the MDDA com-
missions research to assist it in ensuring that its 
efforts to deliver on its mandate are focused and 
effective. This critical area of the MDDA’s activi-
ties urgently requires wider support as there is a 
serious lack of research, and thus understand-
ing and knowledge of the state of media diversity 
and community media, particularly amongst sec-
tor stakeholders.

A restrictive annual MDDA budget of around R60 
million (from the Government grant and broad-
cast contributors) means that the Agency cannot 
cope with demand as, year on year, proposals 
received amount to about R150 million. Main-
stream print media no longer contribute to the 
MDDA, an issue that needs to be addressed via 
regulation, while other telecommunication sec-
tors should also be called upon to contribute. 

Other challenges relate to the ring fencing of 
MDDA funds as specified in the MDDA Act, which 
means that sector capacity building and research 
initiatives by the MDDA cannot be adequately 
funded. This will be a key issue to be considered 
in the upcoming review of the MDDA Act.

Appreciation
It was with deep sadness that the MDDA learnt 
that Ms Libby Lloyd, the founding Chief Execu-
tive Officer of the Agency, had passed away on 
18 January 2018.  In addition to her many, other, 
outstanding achievements in the media sector, 
Ms Lloyd played a defining role in setting up the 
Agency. Under her leadership, which ran until 
2006, the MDDA allocated financial support to 
just under 100 different media projects across all 
provinces of South Africa, with the MDDA Board 
approving over R20 million in grants to these 
projects.  Through her work with the MDDA in 
creating an enabling environment for the commu-
nity media sector, Ms Lloyd’s legacy includes giv-
ing a concrete platform to the often-marginalised 
voices across all our communities, regardless of 
race, gender, disability and economic class.

In conclusion, the support I have received from 
the Executive Authority, the MDDA Board, lead-
ership and staff during my period as Acting 
Chairperson is greatly appreciated. With their 
commitment, the Agency has surmounted the 
challenges of the past year and continued to  
deliver on its mandate of encouraging and accel-
erating the growth of our community media. 

As my term on the MDDA Board expires in June 
2018, I would like to acknowledge all my fellow 
supporters of community media. I have been  
enriched in numerous ways from my time on 
the Board, particularly from my interactions with  
fellow board members, who I hold in high esteem. 
This also includes hardworking staff members, 
who taught me a lot about public service enti-
ties and how they function. I have been inspired 
by various individuals in projects, who give so 
much of themselves to enrich and empower their  
communities.

Musa Sishange
Acting Chairperson
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1.4 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND OVERVIEW

The 2017/2018 financial year saw a number 
of challenges for the Agency. This was in part 
caused by changes in leadership across the 
Executive Authority and Executive Manage-
ment levels, while Board vacancies prevented 
the Board from being able to form a quorum for 
a major part of the year. This inevitably affect-
ed the attainment of annual key performance  
indicators, as, while internal work was carried 
out to meet the targets, achievement of many 
of these are linked to Board approval. This was 
particularly serious in terms of Programme 2, 
which deals with grant funding of community  
and small commercial media projects, as this 
programme comprises the core mandate of the 
Agency.

Despite it being a difficult year, there were a  
number of positive developments, including the 
completion of the study into the impact that the 
MDDA has had on media diversity since it fund-
ed its first project in 2004. The study concluded 
that, while there were challenges, the Agency 
had made a significant and positive contribution 
to transforming the media landscape through its 
financial and non-financial support of the com-
munity media sector. The findings provide a 
solid foundation, both for the MDDA’s strategic 
planning going forward, and for the impending 
review of the MDDA Act, thereby ensuring that 
the Agency continues to address the evolv-
ing needs of the sector in a rapidly changing  
technological environment.

In addition, while the number of community and 
small commercial media projects for which new 
funding agreements were entered into did not 
reach the planned targets, the MDDA continued 
to deliver on its mandate by disbursing funds 
to previously approved projects in line with the  
contractual agreements. 

The Agency continued the unbroken record of 
unqualified audits that it has maintained since 
inception, testimony to the sound governance 
structures that are in place.

Operating Environment
A permanent Human Resources and Corporate 
Affairs team was appointed early in the financial 
year, enabling the redressing of internal environ-
ment issues to make sound progress, particularly 
in terms of the vacancy rate which continued to 
be of concern, especially at executive level. The 
MDDA entered the year with a staff complement 
comprising only 64% of the funded positions in 
the approved organogram. However, appoint-
ments during the year reduced the vacancy rate 
slightly, while five interns also joined the MDDA. 
The urgent aim is to reach a vacancy rate of less 
than 10% in line with best practice. 

In a parallel intervention to address capac-
ity issues at the MDDA, personal develop-
ment assessments were completed for all staff 
in 2017/2018. These are being used to sup-
port staff with training interventions that are in  
line with their own personal growth aspirations, 
as well as to meet the current and emerging 
needs of the Agency.

Performance
The MDDA achieved 45% (20) of the annual 
targets for its 44 key performance indicators for 
2017/2018. The non-achievement of targets was 
largely due to vacancies at Board level, which 
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meant that the Board could not form a quorum for 
a significant part of the year to approve projects. 
In addition, the high vacancy rate at the MDDA 
continued to place strain on capacity. 

In Programme 2, Grant and Seed funding, which 
is the core activity of the MDDA, the Agency 
did not achieve nine of its 12 key performance  
indicators, as attainment of the targets depends 
on Board approval of funding applications by 
community and small commercial media pro- 
jects. Only eight community broadcast projects 
were supported for first time or strengthening 
funding as opposed to the target of 25, and only  
six small commercial media and community  
print projects were supported out of the target  
of 12 for the 2017/2018 financial year. The key  
performance indicator concerning job creation, 
an important spin-off of the funding allocated to  
projects, did achieve its target, with 108 direct  
jobs being created as a result of community  
broadcast projects funded in 2017/2018.

Capacity Building and Sector Development
Advancing and strengthening the community  
and small commercial media sector through  
providing a wide range of skills and expertise  
to deliver professional media services to com- 
munities are key to the non-financial support  
provided to the Agency’s beneficiary projects.

In this regard, important training interventions  
in the 2017/2018 financial year included  
anti-HIV stigmatisation training courses for 
community media in three provinces, Gauteng,  
KwaZulu-Natal and the Free State. The courses 
were run with Soul City and were attended by 
31 print and broadcast projects. They aimed 
to stimulate dialogue and promote awareness 
around HIV and TB stigma related issues, as  
well as to alert the community media to its  
responsibility to, through responsible reporting,  
reduce the occurrence of such stigma. As 
community media is one of the most important  
social platforms in promoting awareness  
through the sharing of information, the MDDA 
is committed to capacitating our communi-
ty media sector to report and raise awareness 

on such issues. In this way, the sector will con-
tribute to fostering communities in which the  
human rights of all are respected and preserved,  
as enshrined in our Constitution.

A training programme run in partnership with 
the Institute for the Advancement of Journal-
ism (IAJ) introduced community media prac-
titioners to reporting on migration issues, and  
thus contribute to building cohesion within  
our society. The training was based around  
the IAJ’s Reporting on Race Conference in 
2017, and aimed at assisting community media  
journalists to expose their communities to in-
depth information and understanding of the  
various issues that impact on migrants’ lives.  

Implementation of a Memorandum of Under-
standing, signed in 2015/2016, between the 
MDDA and SAASTA (South African Agency for 
Science and Technology Advancement) contin-
ued on the same successful note as in previ-
ous years.  The Science and Technology Youth  
Journalism Programme is an internship program- 
me, hosted by community media, for unemploy- 
ed graduates in Science, Technology, Commu- 
nication and Journalism from 18 to 35 years old. 
Promoting and communicating the value of sci-
ence, technology and innovation are critical to 
a developing economy, as is building a scien- 
ce, engineering, and technology human resour- 
ce base. The programme has been rolled out 
progressively, commencing with 17 interns during 
2015/2016. With a further eight candidates con- 
tracted into the programme in 2016/ 2017, 
and 27 interns in 2017/2018, the programme 
now covers seven provinces of South Africa, 
with plans to extend it to the remaining two pro- 
vinces.

Media Transformation
The major activity in delivering on the man-
date of the MDDA is the funding of community 
broadcast and small commercial and community  
print and digital media projects, with an emphasis  
on ensuring greater representation of groups 
and communities largely side-lined by the  
mainstream media. As a result, priority is  
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of a system for the centralised procurement 
of broadcast equipment for Community Radio  
stations due to a number of positive spin-offs it  
offers. These include potential economies  
through centralisation; promotion of fairness  
and transparency in the selection of service  
providers; ensuring quality studios as per  
basic minimum requirements; and the creation of  
opportunities for local technical up-skilling and 
job creation where Community Radio stations 
are located.

As a control measure, the Agency releases funds 
to approved beneficiary projects in tranches,  
depending on the project meeting contractual 
and compliance requirements. The rate of the 
disbursement of funds is negatively impacted 
on by beneficiary projects’ non-performance 
and late reporting and, while disbursement has 
improved in 2017/2018 as opposed to previous 
years, it remains a key focus area for improve-
ment by the MDDA. Some R45 million was  
disbursed to projects in the year under review.

Conclusion
Change is more often than not accompanied 
by discomfort and the MDDA management fully 
recognises and is committed to addressing the 
impact the changes over the past year have had 
on staff morale. The Agency is fortunate to be 
staffed by a dedicated team of individuals, our 
key asset, and we will continue to strive for a 
rewarding and nurturing environment, one that 
is conducive to the growth of our staff, and filled 
with opportunities.

A special word of thanks to our Executive  
Authority, the Board, leadership and staff for 
their unwavering dedication to the MDDA.  
On behalf of the Agency, I would like to express  
our commitment to working with the Minis-
ter and Deputy Minister of Communications. 
Together, we can deliver on our collective  
mandate to encourage and accelerate the 
growth of community media as a strong force 
for social change and a driver of the trans-
formational agenda outlined in the country’s  
National Development Plan.

Zukiswa Potye
Acting Chief Executive Officer

given to funding projects located in rural areas  
where historically disadvantaged communities 
predominantly reside and on those projects  
focused on, for example, the youth, the most  
affected by unemployment, and people living  
with disabilities. In addition, women are not  
equitably  represented in the community media  
sector, both in terms of ownership and  
management. Besides funding women-focused 
media projects, the MDDA is placing greater  
emphasis on correcting gender imbalances 
and has commissioned a research study from  
Gender Links on “Glass Ceiling – Gender in 
South African Media Houses”.

Reaching out
Over the past financial year, the MDDA contin-
ued to host and support outreach programmes 
in order to both raise the profile of the Agen-
cy and support its stakeholders and commu-
nity media. An important new initiative is to  
facilitate attendance at and coverage by com-
munity media of events of national importance.  
As an example, an MDDA community radio  
beneficiary, Eden FM, from the Eastern Cape, 
co-hosted the Government’s broadcast of the 
State of the Nation Address in February 2018.

Financial Summary
Given the prevailing stringent financial environ-
ment, the MDDA cannot rely solely on funds  
received from the National Treasury through the 
Department of Communications and from its  
current broadcast funders, and needs to urgently  
explore other funding streams. As a result of  
efforts by the Board and management to in- 
crease and strengthen its funding base, the  
MDDA received an additional significant discre-
tionary amount from a major broadcast funder 
for 2017/2018. However, going forward the Agen-
cy needs to ensure relationships with Broad- 
cast funders are reinforced, as well as restore 
the confidence of the Print sector in order to 
revive this funding stream and seek out other  
funding sources. 

The MDDA currently budgets an excess of  
R18 million per annum for financial support to 
community broadcast media, which includes 
an amount for broadcast studio equipment that  
the Agency pays to suppliers selected by  
approved project beneficiaries. In the year under 
review, the MDDA initiated the implementation  
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1.5 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY  
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 
• All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are consistent with the annual financial 

statements audited by the Auditor General. 
• The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions. 
• The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines as issued by National  

Treasury. The Annual Financial Statements (Part 6) have been prepared in accordance with the 
GRAP standards applicable to the public entity. 

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for 
the judgements made in this information. The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and 
implementing a system of internal control.  This has been designed to provide reasonable assurance as 
to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human resources information and the 
annual financial statements. 

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial  
statements. 

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human 
resources information and the financial affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 

Ms Z Potye       Mr M Sishange
Chief Executive Officer (Acting)    Chairperson of the Board (Acting)
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Phelisa Nkomo (Chairperson) (term ended 22/01/2018)
Advocate Musa Sishange (Acting Chairperson as of 27/11/2017)
Louise Vale (term ended 05/02/2018)
Palesa Kadi (resigned 05/05/2017)
Zanele Mngadi (Shareholder representative; resigned 30/08/2017)
Tasneem Carrim (Shareholder representative; appointed 22/09/2017; term ended: 27/01/2018)
Neo Momodu (Publishers Support Services representative; resigned 25/04/2017)
Nkgakga Monare (Publishers Support Services representative; appointed 22/09/2017)
Dr Nombeko Mbava (appointed 19/10/2017)
Martina Della Togna (appointed 19/10/2017)
Ronald Lamola (appointed 19/10/2017; resigned 16/01/2018)

2017/2018
MDDA Board of Directors

MDDA Board Committees
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Nandipha Madiba (Chairperson)
Seipati Boulton (Independent member)
Mvuleni Bukula (Independent member)
Palesa Kadi (Board representative; resigned 05/05/2017)
Musa Sishange (Alternate Board representative; resigned 27/11/2017)
Dalson Modiba (Shareholder representative)
Nombeko Mbava (Board representative from 26/01/2018)
Martina Della Togna (Alternate Board representative from 26/01/2018)

REMUNERATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES OPERATIONS 
(COLLAPSED IN JANUARY 2018 FOLLOWING RESTRUCTURING OF BOARD COMMITTEES)
Louise Vale (Chairperson)
Neo Momodu (resigned 25/04/2017)
Phelisa Nkomo
Musa Sishange

RESEARCH, TRAINING, MONITORING AND EVALUATION OPERATIONS 
(COLLAPSED IN JANUARY 2018 FOLLOWING RESTRUCTURING OF BOARD COMMITTEES)
Louise Vale (Chairperson)
Palesa Kadi (resigned 05/05/2017)
Phelisa Nkomo

ICT OPERATIONS 
(COLLAPSED IN JANUARY 2018 FOLLOWING RESTRUCTURING OF BOARD COMMITTEES)
Musa Sishange (Chairperson) 
Fezile Soyizwapi (Independent member)
Sandile Ndaba (Independent member)
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CORPORATE AFFAIRS
Martina Della Togna
Nkgakga Monare
Musa Sishange

ADVOCACY & STAKEHOLDER
Nombeko Mbava
Nkgakga Monare
Musa Sishange

PROJECT OVERSIGHT
Martina Della Togna
Nkgakga Monare
Musa Sishange

RESEARCH, CAPACITY BUILDING & MONITORING AND EVALUATION
Nombeko Mbava

AUDIT & RISK
Seipati Boulton 
Nombeko Mbava (Board representative)
Mvuleni Bukula
Martina Della Togna (Alternate Board representative)

Advocate Musa Sishange (Acting Chairperson)
Tasneem Carrim (Shareholder representative)
Nkgakga Monare (Publishers Support Services – PSS representative)
Dr Nombeko Mbava
Martina Della Togna

2018/2019
MDDA Board of Directors (AS AT 16 MAY 2018)

MDDA Board Committees



M
D

D
A 

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
R

T 
20

17
 - 

20
18

20

Advocate Musa Sishange (Acting Chairperson)

Tasneem Carrim

Nkgakga Monare

Dr Nombeko Mbava

Advocate Musa Sishange is currently an advocate involved in media and 
employment law. He was formerly the Head of Legal: Regulatory, Risk and 
Compliance General at StarSat (Former TopTV), where he was also previ-
ously Senior Manager: Employee Relations and acting Company Secretary. 
While in the employ of Standard Bank, he dealt with all Employee Relations 
matters and disputes across the country and other SADC countries. An 
MDDA Board member, he was also formerly an executive member of the 
National Association of Broadcasters (NAB). Mr Sishange graduated with a 
Bachelor of Laws degree from Wits University.

Tasneem Carrim started off her career in the Office of the President, un-
der former President Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela as a communications re-
searcher. She also served in the Presidency of Thabo Mbeki as a deputy 
director, media liaison. She was later made responsible for establishing 
protocols and systems for the Presidency’s fledgling communications de-
partment. Currently, she is the Chief Director of Policy and Research at the 
GCIS.

Nkgakga Monare is Deputy Managing Director: Times Media Group: Media 
Division (Tiso Blackstar Group) and Executive Director: Times Media Group 
Board (now Tiso Blackstar Group Board), as well as a Director of the Pub-
lishers Support Services and of the Publishers Research Council. His ex-
perience includes recent positions as Managing Editor, Sunday Times and 
The Times newspapers; Deputy Editor (Acting Editor), Mail and Guardian; 
Editor, The Sunday Independent; and Executive Editor, The Star.

Dr Nombeko Mbava, a Research Fellow at the Institute of Monitoring and 
Evaluation, University of Cape Town, is an expert on public sector pro-
gramme evaluation. She has headed monitoring and evaluation units in 
public entities where she provided strategic leadership for activities related 
to organisational strategy development and governance. She served as a 
board member at the South African Monitoring and Evaluation Associa-
tion. Dr Mbava holds a PhD from Stellenbosch University, an MBA from 
Stellenbosch University Business School and a Bachelor of Arts in Eco-
nomics from Smith College, Massachusetts, US.

MDDA Board of Directors: Profiles
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Martina Della Togna

Phelisa Nkomo (Chairperson)

Louise Vale

Zanele Mngadi

Martina Della Togna has over 24 years’ experience as a producer of 
award-winning feature documentary films with South African filmmakers 
and visual artists. She has successfully led strategic communications 
campaigns for South African provincial and national government depart-
ments, is a founding member of some of South Africa’s first community 
radio and television stations, and is a published author on sustainability of 
the community media sector. Her five-year service as the legislature’s first 
Multimedia Manager in the South African Parliament led to the total over-
haul of the external communication strategy, including the establishment  
of broadcast and online platforms in support of public participation in  
legislation and oversight.

Phelisa Nkomo is a Development Economist and socio-economic justice 
activist. Ms Nkomo has vast developmental experience from both the public 
and non-governmental sectors, with a focus on rural and community devel-
opment, and is Economic Advisor for the Gauteng Provincial Government. 
She also serves on the Board of the Independent Development Trust (IDT) 
and Sector Education and Training. Ms Nkomo holds a Postgraduate Di-
ploma in Economics (ADEP) from the University of Western Cape (UWC), 
having obtained her Honours in Economics at the same university.  She is 
currently studying for a Masters in Development Finance through the Uni-
versity of Stellenbosch.

Louise Vale is Executive Director of AIP (Association of Independent Pub-
lishers). A committed anti-apartheid activist, Louise was detained by the 
apartheid government in 1986 and was declared a restricted person in 
1987. Ms Vale has extensive experience in both the education and jour-
nalism fields. Her career in education encompassed curriculum and mate-
rial development, and acting as a consultant to the National Department of  
Education, tertiary institutions, unions and non – governmental  organisa-
tions.   Ms Vale moved into the media world as General Manager of the David  
Rabkin Project for Experiential Journalism, Rhodes University. Ms Vale 
holds a B.A (Honours) in Applied Linguistics and a Post Graduate Diploma 
in Education Policy and Knowledge Development.

Commencing her career in print media, Ms Mngadi roles include Chief of 
Staff: Ministry at the Department of Environmental Affairs, having previ-
ously been Chief Director: Communications for the Presidency: Office of 
the President. Her experience in the media includes reporting for daily and 
community newspapers and working in communications in the private sec-
tor. Ms Mngadi holds a National Diploma in Public Relations Management.

MDDA Board of Directors: Profiles
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Neo Momodu 

Palesa Kadi

Ronald Lamola

Prior to being appointed head of corporate affairs for Media24, Ms Momodu 
spent four years at the GCIS (Government Communications and Informa-
tion Systems) where she was the chief director: government and media liai-
son. Before she joined GCIS, she was the founding and managing director 
of Progressive Consulting CC, a communications management consultancy 
company for private and public sector organisations. She has also held se-
nior positions at the SABC, as senior public affairs manager, and Primedia, 
where she was group communications, regulatory and strategic HR direc-
tor. Ms Momodu holds an LLB (Hons) degree.

As Executive: Strategic and Shared Services at the Film and Publication 
Board, Ms Kadi brought extensive expertise in corporate governance, 
communication, project monitoring, and programme and grant evaluation, 
amongst others. Her experience and involvement in community based 
structures ranges from national youth organisations, through to parlia-
mentary commissions and local government to community organisations. 
With extensive experience in the public sector, previous positions Ms Kadi 
has held include Director of Rural Tourism Development for the National 
Department of Tourism and Director - 2010 Projects Management for the 
Eastern Cape Department of Economic Affairs and Tourism. Ms Kadi has a 
Bachelor of Arts in Political Studies and History.

Former ANC Youth League deputy president, Ronald Lamola resigned from 
the MDDA Board shortly after his appointment in November 2017, due to his 
appointment to the National Executive Committee of the ANC.  At the time 
of his appointment to the MDDA Board, he was a member of the finance 
committee on the Tshwane University of Technology governance council. 
He grew up from humble beginnings in Mpumalanga to assume various 
leadership roles within the Congress movement and to become a success-
ful lawyer.

MDDA Board of Directors: Profiles
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MDDA Team

Zukiswa Potje
Acting Chief Executive 

Officer

Sibongile Ngwenya
HR & Corporate Affairs 

Manager

Khululwa Seyisi
Company Secretary

Sungano Mutsvedu
Finance Manager

Vuyelwa Mdazana
Programme Manager: 
Community Broadcast

Lindinkosi Ndibongo
Programme Manager: 
Print & Digital Media

Thembelihle Sibeko
M&E Manager

Cheryl Langbridge
Communications Man-

ager

Motsamai Tsotetsi
IT Manager

Pearl Senna
Internal Audit Manager

Jimmy Ngwenya
Project Co-ordinator:
Print & Digital Media

Mmathabo Thulo
Project Co-ordinator: 
Print & Digital Media

Sfiso Maphanga
Project Co-ordinator:

Community Broadcast

Kabelo Thelele
Project Co-ordinator

Community Broadcast

Khutso Tsikane
Digital Media:  
Co-ordinator

Sediroa Sithole
Project Administrator
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MDDA Team

Mokgadi Moloto

MDDA Interns and Learners

Karabo Mothata Michael Sive Alpheus Lediga Mcebisi Mthombeni Chimba Chibesa

Gugulethu Bonnet
M&E Co-ordinator

Nompumelelo Maduna
M&E Co-ordinator

Noluthando Mdludlu
Executive Secretary

Noxolo Bhangaza
Receptionist

Margaret Ndawonde
Communications  

Officer

Khanyisa Mahlawule
Research & Capacity
Building Co-ordinator

Desiree Lebaea
Research & Capacity 
Building Co-ordinator

Fuzakazi Mqungwana
Finance Administrator

Ameen Dawood
Risk Specialist

Derrick Smith 
Human Resource Officer

Mokgaetji Ledwaba
Finance Disbursement

Officer

Ouma Moatsi
Officer Cleaner

Mashudu Mathobo
Supply Chain Officer

Singo Thivhusiwi
Supply Chain Officer

Thebeetsile Letsapa
Internal Audit Officer

Faith Morokane
Supply Chain Officer
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1.6 MANDATE OF THE MDDA

Constitutional Mandate
The MDDA’s mandate is intended to enable re-
alisation of various provisions in the Constitution 
of South Africa.

Sections 16 (1) (a) to (c), which focus on free-
dom of expression, state that “everyone has the 
right to freedom of expression, which includes 
freedom of the press and other media; freedom 
to receive or impart information or ideas; and 
freedom of artistic creativity’. This right is made 
conditional under sections 16 (2) (a) to (c), which 
require its realisation not to extend to “propagan-
da for war; incitement of imminent violence; or 
advocacy of hatred that is based on race, ethnic-
ity, gender or religion, and that constitutes incite-
ment to cause harm.” 

Sections 32 (1) (a) and (b) give further expres-
sion which relates to the MDDA, stating that “Ev-
eryone has the right of access to any information 
held by the state; and any information that is held 
by another person and that is required for the ex-
ercise or protection of any rights.”  Section 32 
(2) further requires that “national legislation must 
be enacted to give effect to this right and may 
provide for reasonable measures to alleviate the 
administrative and financial burden on the state.”

Section 15 (1), which focuses on freedom of re-
ligion, belief and opinion, determines that “Ev-
eryone has the right to freedom of conscience, 
religion, thought, belief and opinion.” 

A further provision which relates to MDDA’s man-
date is section 6 (2): “Recognising the historically 
diminished use and status of the indigenous lan-
guages of our people, the state must take prac-
tical and positive measures to elevate the status 
and advance the use of these languages.” This is 
amplified by sections 31 (1) (a) and (b), which de-
termine that “Persons belonging to a cultural, re-
ligious or linguistic community may not be denied 
the right, with other members of that community, 
to enjoy their culture, practise their religion and 
use their language; and to form, join and main-
tain cultural, religious and linguistic associations 
and other organs of civil society.” 

Legislative Mandates 
The MDDA’s establishment and mandate is pri-
marily set out through the Media Development 
and Diversity Act no. 14 of 2002. This legisla-
tion’s purpose is “to establish the Media  De-
velopment  and  Diversity  Agency;  to  provide  
for  its objective  and  functions;  to  provide  for  
the  constitution of the  Board  and  the manage-
ment of the  Agency by the  Board;  to  provide  
for  the  chief  executive  officer and  other  staff 
of the  Agency; to provide  for  the  finances of 
the Agency; and to  provide for  the  support of  
projects  aimed  at  promoting  media  develop-
ment  and  diversity.”

Secondarily, the MDDA must also ensure ad-
herence to the Electronic Communication Act 
no. 35 of 2005, the Public Finance Management 
Act no.1 of 1999 (PFMA) and the Promotion of 
Administrative Justice Act no.3 of 2000 (PAJA), 
as these concern promotion of media diversity 
and development, good and accountable gover-
nance and the administration of justice.

The Independent Communications Authority of 
South Africa Act, Act no. 13 of 2000, as amend-
ed, which gives ICASA the power to grant,  
renew, amend, transfer, and revoke licences, 
also impacts the MDDA as financial support is 
only granted to those broadcast projects that 
have acquired a licence from ICASA.

Policy Mandates
The establishment of the Department of Com-
munications follows the gazetting of Proclama-
tion No. 47 of 15 July 2014 in which the State 
President approved the transfer of powers and 
functions to the Minister of Communications. 
The Department’s mandate was consequently 
defined as: 

• Develop an overarching communications 
and broadcasting policy and strategy.

• Provide information dissemination and pub-
licity to promote an informed citizenry.

Informed by these, the Department of Commu-
nications set itself the following strategic goals: 
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• A responsive communications policy and  
 regulatory environment.
• Improved government communications and 

country branding.
• Improved capacity of the department and its 

entities to deliver.
• Transformed communications sector.

As an entity under the Department, and there-
fore in furtherance of its mandate and strategic 
goals, the MDDA serves as a statutory organ es-
tablished to foster the promotion of and ensuring 
media development and diversity in South Afri-
ca. The mandate of the Agency is therefore en-
shrined in law and aims to:

• Create an enabling environment for media 
development and diversity which reflects the 
needs and aspirations of all South Africans.

• Redress exclusion and marginalisation of 
disadvantaged communities and persons 
from access to the media and the media in-
dustry.

• Promote media development and diversity 
by providing support, primarily to community 
and small commercial media projects.

Medium Term Strategic Framework
The National Development Plan - Vision 2030 
(NDP) informs the Medium Term Strategic 
Framework (MTSF) priorities. The latter is Gov-
ernment’s three-year implementation phase of 

the National Development Plan and is structured 
around 14 priority outcomes, which cover focus 
areas identified in the NDP and election manifes-
to of the governing party. 

The aim of the MTSF is to ensure policy co-
herence, alignment and coordination across 
Government’s plans, including the alignment of 
budgeting processes. It builds on the work done 
between 2009 and 2014 and is also inclusive of 
experiences and learnings gained.

Outcomes six (6), twelve (12) and fourteen (14) 
of the MTSF are relevant to the MDDA:
• Outcome 6 relates to an efficient, competi-

tive and responsive economic infrastructure 
network. This highlights the role of the MDDA 
in assisting community media to harness the 
power of a rapidly changing telecommunica-
tions environment.

• Outcome 12 relates to an efficient, effective 
and development orientated public service. 
This speaks to the character and nature of 
the MDDA as an institution and the values it 
should champion.

• Outcome 14 relates to nation building and 
social cohesion as it envisions a society 
where South Africans will be more conscious 
of what they have in common than their dif-
ferences. It directs the MDDA’s approach 
when supporting and enabling content and 
production elements.

Bojanala FM celebrates, with the MDDA, receipt of the  
Agency’s Digital Broadcast infrastructure roll-out  
programme.
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1.7  ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Minister of  
Communications

MDDA Board of  
Directors

Chief Executive Officer 
Vacant

Executive Assistant
Noluthando Mdludlu

Company Secretary
Khululwa Seyisi

Chief Financial  
Officer Vacant

Risk Specialist
Vacant

Communications  
Manager

Cheryl Langbridge

HR Corporate Manager
Sibongile Ngwenya

Strategy, Policy, Monitoring  
& Evaluation Director

Vacant

Projects Director
Vacant

Manager  
Broadcasting

Vuyelwa Mdazana

Manager Print
Lindinkosi Ndibongo

Monitoring &  
Evaluation Manager
Thembelihle Sibeko

Internal
Audit Manager

Vacant

Research &  
Capacity Building  
Manager-Vacant



PART TWO

PERFORMANCE
FOR 2017/2018
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SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT
The Strategic Plan and the Annual Performance 
Plan of the Media Development and Diversity 
Agency (MDDA) are informed by:

• The socio-political and economic environment 
prevailing in South Africa;

• The National Development Plan (NDP) and 
macro environment; and

• The community media sector and the broader 
media environment in the print, broadcast and 
digital platforms.

Impact Assessment
A study of the impact of the MDDA was com-
missioned in 2016 and completed in December 
2017. The study was commissioned to investi-
gate two key issues: whether the MDDA as an 
organisation was responding to its mandate of 
media development and diversity; and to assess 
whether community projects were having any  
impact on the local level.

It was concluded that the MDDA has been able 
to carry out different aspects of its mandate to a 
greater or lesser degree. Through its grant fund-
ing, the agency has channelled resources to the 
community and small commercial media sector 
and, in this way, has contributed towards the  
expansion of ownership and control and of  
access to media by historically disadvantaged 
communities.

This is evidenced in the burgeoning of both  
community and small commercial media, with  
radio audiences managing to reach an impres-
sive 25% of South African audiences and print 
media being read by over 7 million people week-
ly. This media is also being published or broad-
cast in all indigenous languages reflecting the 
diverse country demographics, and training and 
capacity building interventions have been rolled 
out to support projects that have experienced 
gaps.

However, the study found that, as much as there 
has been progress, limitations – both in terms  
of the broader media landscape and the Agency 
itself – have impacted the sector negatively. 

Firstly, the MDDA’s budget is restrictive in that the 
organisation receives just under half the amount 
required if it were to service all the proposals that 
it receives. Laws and regulations also determine 
how funding is to be allocated and, while media 
projects do receive the majority allocation, train-
ing and capacity building identified as a core 
need receives a fraction of this amount.

Project sustainability is also impacted in a num-
ber of ways. Funding criteria are vague and the 
media projects are not required to demonstrate 
how they will become self-sufficient by the end 
of the funding period. In addition, the MDDA 
has not been able to resolve the impasse with  
Government or the commercial sector to se-
cure advertising support for projects to enable  
sustainability. 

Internally, MDDA has been weakened. Staff  
capacity to respond to challenges is poor, and 
many senior manager posts remain vacant. Board 
members have changed frequently contributing 
to organisational instability. Systems, such as 
pre-assessment, and monitoring and evaluation,  
require revision so that they can be used as early 
warning mechanisms when projects are failing to 
implement contract obligations.

The media landscape has also presented its 
own unique challenges. Economically, South 
Africa is in recession and there are ongoing re-
trenchments within the commercial media indus-
try. Technology has further disrupted the media  
industry with broadcasters moving to digital plat-
forms and the print media losing audiences to 
online media. Within this, media concentration 
has become an increasing threat.

Despite all the challenges, political parties,  
Government and stakeholder groups still see 
the need to build a thriving community and small 
commercial sector. Media projects also present 
successes and opportunities against all odds. 
These are reflected in the long list of awards 
that community media projects have won for  
delivering excellent, relevant content, content  
that has been used in schools and universi-
ties and even for matric exams. Also, media  
projects have had significant success in training  
staff and volunteers and thus creating job  

2.1  SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS
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opportunities particularly for young people. A 
number of projects have become sustainable 
over time and they have built and bought their 
own properties and studios. In this way, they 
have started to create new revenue streams  
critical for the long-term sustainability of projects.

Overall, it was concluded that the long-term 
success of the sector requires that changes 
are made – in this instance to strengthen the 
MDDA so that it is able to play a stronger role in  
bringing together project partners, allocating  
funds appropriately, and training and developing  
capacity for the long-term sustainability of the  
sector.

Both Government and stakeholders could bene- 
fit from greater collaboration and partnerships: 
for example, ICASA and the MDDA operate  
independently with ICASA issuing licenses 
and the MDDA funding community broadcast-
ing. There needs to be closer collaboration  
between the agencies so as to ensure that media 
development and diversity targets are set and 
reached.  Strong partnerships with government 
department will also help unlock advertising  
support and training funding (SETAs; National 
Skills Fund). 

Stakeholders expressed the need to partner so 
that they can have maximum developmental 
impact within the sector. Suggestions included: 
more formal meetings with the MDDA; represen-
tation on the MDDA Board; greater transparen-
cy when supporting projects; and joint strate-
gic planning sessions to improve outreach and  
success rates.

ORGANISATIONAL ENVIRONMENT
The enabling legislative environment and the 
positioning of the MDDA in the Department of 

Communications present it with an opportunity to 
reach wider audiences and entrenches the rel-
evance of its value proposition.  In light of the 
changing media landscape, including the mi-
gration to digital, to which the MDDA strategy is 
aligned, the structure was reviewed to provide 
internal capacity that strengthens its ability to 
deliver on its mandate and the evolving require-
ments of the media landscape. Such changes 
potentially elevate the accountability of various 
programmes as well as include expertise to 
guide and direct the MDDA’s strategic and policy 
making role.

During 2017/2018, the MDDA experienced a 
high vacancy rate (33% at year end), with criti-
cal vacancies at Executive level, in particular, the 
roles of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief 
Financial Officer were vacant. Filling of these va-
cancies has been prioritised, and a number of 
the positions, including that of CEO, had been 
shortlisted by year end.

The Board of the MDDA also experienced a high 
vacancy rate and was as a result unable to form 
a quorum during a significant part of the year. 
This impacted on the achievement of the annual 
key performance indicators as many of these are 
linked to Board approval. Therefore, while all the 
internal work had been carried out for submis-
sion to the Board, the Board was unable to give 
the final approval in three of the quarters of the 
financial year. The submissions were held over 
to the new financial year when it is anticipated 
that Board vacancies will have been filled. 

KEY POLICY DEVELOPMENTS AND LEGISLA-
TIVE CHANGES
There were no major changes to relevant  
policies or legislation that could have potentially  
impacted on the operations of the MDDA.  
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PROGRAMME 5: INNOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Programme Purpose: The MDDA Act 14 of 2002 outlines the objectives of the Agency to include (amongst others) to “encourage 
research regarding media development and diversity”. There is also a lack of research and information specific to the sectors that 
inform programme development and strategic focus (e.g. not much information on the number of indigenous language newspa-
pers in SA, number of readers of such newspapers, etc).

Sub-programme  Human Resources  To enhance organisational capacity building efforts through focused human 
1.1 Management  resource interventions by 2019

Sub-programme  Legal and Regulatory To ensure compliance with legislative requirements through a professionally  
1.2 Affairs   managed corporate legal and regulatory affairs by 2019

Sub-programme  Financial Administration,  To provide good governance and financial management to ensure compliance 
1.3 Risk and Internal Audit with applicable legislative requirements and sustainability of the Agency by  
   2019

Sub-programme  Information Management  To implement IT initiatives geared towards improvement of IT value and 
1.4 and Technology  performance by 2019.  

PROGRAMME 1: GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION                                                                                                                     
Programme Purpose: The programme ensures effective leadership, strategic management and operations, through continuous  
refinement of organisational strategy and the implementation of the appropriate legislation and best practice. 

PROGRAMME 2: GRANT AND SEED FUNDING                                                             
Programme Purpose: The programme promotes media development and diversity through financial and non-financial support for 
community broadcasting as well as community and small commercial print projects.

Sub-programme Community Broadcast To facilitate ownership, control and access to information and content production 
 2.1 Media of community broadcasting by historically disadvantaged communities by 2019 

Sub-programme Print and Digital Media To facilitate ownership, control and access to content production of community  
2.2  and small commercial publications by historically disadvantaged communities  
  by 2019

Sub-programme  Monitoring and Evaluation To monitor and evaluate input, output and compliance to MDDA grant-in-aid  
2.3  contracts to measure the effectiveness and efficiency of MDDA support by 2019

PROGRAMME 3: PARTNERSHIPS, PUBLIC AWARENESS AND ADVOCACY
Programme Purpose: This programme seeks to position the MDDA as a leading influencer and authoritative voice in the  
community and small commercial media, by playing a key role in the national dialogue on the sector, through implementation of 
strategic partnerships.

Sub-programme  Strategic Programmes  To position the MDDA as an authoritative leader and voice on community and 
3.1  small commercial media by proactive advocacy and lobbying interventions and  
  established stakeholder relationships by 2019

Sub-programme MDDA Brand Building  To expand our footprint as the MDDA by creating a positive image in pursuance  
3.2  of the MDDA’s mandate to grow the community and small commercial media by  
  2019

PROGRAMME 4: CAPACITY BUILDING AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT
Programme Purpose: One of the objectives of the Agency outlined in the MDDA Act of 2002 is to “encourage the development of 
human resources, training and capacity building within the media industry, especially amongst historically disadvantaged groups”. 
In response to this, the Agency has developed capacity building programmes, which aim to provide community and small com-
mercial media with necessary skills needed for effective performance in day to day work.

Strategic   To encourage the development of human resources in community-based media  
Objective  projects through capacity building and media literacy training by 2019

Strategic   To champion research, development and innovation to create a media  
Objective   development and diversity body of knowledge by 2019

PROGRAMME SUB-PROGRAMME STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
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Performance Information-Reporting -  
Financial Year 2017/2018
The following pages present the Performance 
Information Report as is required in terms of 
Treasury Regulations and Section 55 (2) (a) 
of the PFMA. The objectives are measurable 
and aligned to the budget. This assists the  
Accounting Authority (the Board) in its additional  
responsibility to ensure that the annual report 
and audited financial statements fairly present 
the performance against predetermined objec-
tives of the Agency.

Accordingly, this Performance Information Re-
port is a subject matter/agenda item of every 
Board and Executive Management meeting in 
line with regulatory requirements, good cor-
porate governance and proper oversight. This  
ensures that the Agency complies with the  
requirements of the Auditor General’s audit  
findings in terms of Section 20 (2) (c) of the 
Public Audit Act No 25 of 2004 on the reported  

information relating to performance against  
predetermined objectives.

The MDDA achieved the targets for 20 (45%) of 
the 44 key performance indicators (KPIs) includ-
ed in its Annual Performance Plan for 2017/2018. 
This is primarily because the achievement of  
15 of the key performance indicators was tied  
to final approval by a quorating board. Most of 
these key performance indicators form part 
of Programme 2, which deals with grant fund-
ing of community and small commercial media  
projects, a core mandate of the Agency. It is  
estimated that if the Board had quorated, the  
success rate of the MDDA would have been 80%.

The reported performance is therefore not a true 
reflection of the Agency’s performance for the 
year given the final achievement of many of its 
KPIs are linked to Board approval, as discussed 
above. Therefore, while the work was completed 
internally for submission to the Board, the fact 
that the Board could not form a quorum for a  
major part of the year led to many KPIs not being 
achieved. 

2.2.2    Determined Strategic Objectives  
           in relation to Key Result Areas

Alfred Nzo Community Radio Station celebrating its 10 year anniversary.
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STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL PERFORMANCE VARIANCE REASON  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 AGAINST TARGET  FOR VARIANCE
     TARGET ACTUAL
    2017/18 2017/18

PROGRAMME 1: GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

To ensure a capable and accomplished organisation
Sub Programme 1.1: Human Resources Management

Capacity 
building 
interven-
tions

Number of  
employees 
trained as 
per Personal 
Development 
Plans

11  17  15  -2

Internship  5 5 0 Achieved
programme 
developed

Number of  
interns  
recruited

To enhance 
organisation-
al capacity 
building  
efforts 
through  
focused 
human 
resource 
interventions 
by 2019

Thebeetsile Letsapa (Internal Audit Officer), Khanyisa Mahlawule (Research &  
Capacity Building Co-ordinator), Gugulethu Bonnet (M&E Co-ordinator) and  

Sfiso Maphanga( Project Co-ordinator: Community Broadcast) 

Target not achieved. 
Training programmes 
were delayed in Q1 
until the completion  
of the personnel  
development/ 
competency assess-
ments to enable 
structured personal 
development plans to 
be drawn up, aligned 
with the strategic  
objectives of the 
Agency and the per- 
sonal development 
aspirations of the 
staff.  These compe-
tency assessments 
were completed for  
all staff and training 
programmes  
commenced in Q2.



M
D

D
A AN

N
U

AL R
EPO

R
T 2017 - 2018

35

Sub-programme 1.2: Legal and Regulatory Affairs 

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL PERFORMANCE VARIANCE REASON  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 AGAINST TARGET  FOR VARIANCE
     TARGET ACTUAL
    2017/18 2017/18

To ensure 
compli-
ance with 
legislative 
requirements 
through a 
professional-
ly managed 
corporate 
legal and 
regulatory 
affairs by  
2019

Improved 
contracts 
manage-
ment

Number of 
compliance 
registers  
produced

1  4  1  -3 Target not achieved. 
In addition to ca-
pacity constraints in 
the Legal unit, there 
were no new Board 
approvals in Q1, 2 
and 4, due to the 
Board being unable 
to form a quorum.

2 months after 
Board approval 

1 month 
after Board 
approval

3 months 
after Board 
approval

One month turn 
around lead 
time for contract 
vetting and 
approval 

2 months 
after 
Board 
approval 

Target not achieved. 
In addition to capa-       
city constraints in the 
Legal unit, there were 
no new projects  
approved in Q1, 2 
and 4, due to the 
Board being unable 
to form a quorum, 
making it difficult to 
measure achievement 
of the target.

Annual 
review of 
internal 
MDDA 
policies

26  26  0  -26Number of 
MDDA policies 
reviewed and 
updated by 
end of quarter

Target not achieved. 
Approvals of all 
policy reviews were 
deferred to Q4 for 
new board mem-
bers to familiarise 
themselves with 
the MDDA but the 
Board was unable 
to form a quorum 
in Q4.



M
D

D
A 

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
R

T 
20

17
 - 

20
18

36

Sub-programme 1.3: Financial Administration, Risk and Internal Audit

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To provide 
good gover-
nance and 
financial 
management 
to ensure 
compliance 
with applica-
ble legislative 
requirements 
and sustain-
ability of the 
Agency by 
2019

Approved  
Procurement 
Plans submitted 
on time 

Number of 
procurement 
plans submit-
ted to National 
Treasury before 
1 April

1  1 1  1 Achieved

1 1 0 -1

Quarterly reports 
approved by 
Accounting  
Authority within 
one month of  
end of quarter

Unqualified 
audit opinion 

Annual financial 
statements and 
four interim 
financial state-
ments with 
positive audit

Enhanced 
governance 
and improved 
enterprise wide 
risk manage-
ment process

1  1 1  0 Achieved

4 4 4 0

Achieved

Target not achieved. 
The policy, strategy 
and framework were 
reviewed in Q1 but 
are pending Board 
approval. A vacancy 
in this unit and the 
Board being unable 
to form a quorum in 
Q1 delayed approval.

Number of 
annual strategic 
risk assessments 
conducted in 
April of the  
financial year

2 1 1 0

Number of 
reviewed and 
updated risk 
management 
policies, 
frameworks and 
strategies

1 1 1 0 Achieved

AchievedNumber of 
annual fraud 
and corruption 
prevention and 
awareness plans 
in place

Risk based in-
ternal auditing 
system and 
reports

Number of 
approved annual 
internal audit 
plans approved 
by Audit and 
Risk Committee 
1 month before 
internal audit 
cycle

1 1 1 0 Achieved

Number of risk 
based internal 
audit reports

8 8 14 +6 Target exceeded. 
Internal Audit pro- 
jects are conducted 
in accordance with 
the approved annual 
operational Internal 
Audit Plan. This plan 
is a living document, 
amended according  
to emerging needs.
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Sub-programme 1.4: Information Management & Technology

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To implement 
IT initiatives 
geared 
towards im-
provement of 
IT value and 
performance 
by 2019

IT Governance Number of re-
viewed IT strat-
egies approved 
by IT Steering 
Committee with-
in 1st quarter of 
financial year

1  1 1  0 Achieved. Approved  
in Q4 by Corporate  
Affairs Committee 
which has absorbed 
the IT Steering  
Committee.

1 4 4 0

Number of re-
viewed Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Re-
covery Plans 
approved by  
IT Steering 
Committee within 
1st quarter of 
financial year

1  1 1  0 Achieved

Achieved

Number of 
approved IT 
external pro-
jects supported 
and reported on 
within one month 
of quarter end

Quarterly 
assessment of 
upgraded and 
maintained ICT 
Infrastructure 
and Software 
completed with-
in one month of 
quarter end

5 7 +2 Target exceeded 
as assessment of 
installations in terms 
of the conditions 
and the different 
brands was required 
to assist in the ap-
pointment of service 
providers following 
broadcast equip-
ment tender issue.

Safe and 
secure IT envi-
ronment

IT external 
project support

IT external  
project support 
plan approved.
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STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To facilitate 
ownership, 
control and 
access to 
information 
and content 
production of 
community 
broadcasting 
by histori-
cally disad-
vantaged 
communities 
by 2019

Grant and Seed 
Funding

Number of  
community 
radio stations 
approved by the 
Board for first-
time funding

20 12 6 -6 Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.

198 100 104 +4

Number of  
community  
television  
stations  
approved by  
the Board for 
financial support

Number of 
community 
radio stations 
approved by 
the Board for 
strengthening

Job creation

19 10 2 -8 Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.

1 3 0 -3 Target not achieved 
as no requests from 
Community TV 
stations received. The 
MDDA will approach 
the sector to identify 
where assistance can 
be provided.

Target exceeded 
as the number of 
jobs supported by 
stipends through 
MDDA grant funding 
is dependent on the 
requirements in the 
applications  
received.

Social engage-
ment strategy 
implemented 
for communities 
using broadcast 
platform  
(Number of 
social dialogues 
supported)

Number of 
direct jobs 
created in the 
community 
broadcast 
sector

1 1 0 -1 Target not achieved  
as the project was  
temporarily suspended 
due to concerns by 
ICASA over moratori-
um on issuing of new 
licences and the need 
to review the strategy 
in the light of various 
stakeholder interests.

PROGRAMME 2: GRANT AND SEED FUNDING

To promote media development and diversity through support for community and small commercial media projects. 
Sub-Programme 2.1: Community Broadcast Media

Special  
Projects
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Sub-programme 2.2: Print and Digital Media

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To facilitate  
ownership,  
control and  
access to  
content  
production  
of community  
and small 
commercial 
publications 
by historically 
disadvantaged 
communities  
by 2019

Grant and 
Seed  
Funding

Enabling 
environment 
for print and 
digital media 
growth

Number of Small 
Commercial 
Media projects 
approved by the 
Board for first 
time funding

5 4 3 -1 Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’ res-
ignations and terms 
expiring.

Number of Small 
Commercial 
Media projects 
approved by 
the Board for 
strengthening

Number of 
Community print 
projects  
approved by the 
Board for first 
time funding 

Number of 
Community print 
projects  
approved by 
the Board for 
strengthening

Number of  
projects  
approved for  
online presence

5 4 2 -2

4 2 0 -2

4 2 1 -1

18 12 3 -9

Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.

Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.

Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.

Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at its 
meetings in Q1 and 
Q4. This was due to 
Board members’  
resignations and 
terms expiring.
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Sub-programme 2.3: Monitoring and Evaluation

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18
To monitor and 
evaluate input, 
output and  
compliance to 
MDDA grant-
in-aid contracts 
to measure the 
effectiveness  
and efficiency  
of MDDA support 
by 2019

Monitoring  
and evalua-
tion of MDDA 
projects

Number of  
monitoring  
reports  
produced

75 80 80 0 Achieved

Number of  
evaluation  
reports produced

31 35 35 0 Achieved

 
Sub-programme 3.1: Strategic programmes

STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To position the 
MDDA as an 
authoritative  
leader and voice 
on community 
and small com-
mercial media  
by proactive 
advocacy and 
lobbying  
interventions 
and established 
stakeholder 
relationships by 
2019

Community 
Media Digital 
Migration 
Strategy

Stakeholder 
Engagement 
policy and 
strategy

Reviewed  
Community 
Media digital 
migration  
strategy ap-
proved by Board 
in last quarter of 
each year

0 1 0 -1 Target not 
achieved due to 
capacity con-
straints in both 
the Projects and 
Strategy (incl 
Research) Units. 
A digital media 
co-ordinator will 
commence at the 
Agency in April 
2018 and will 
co-ordinate  
development of 
strategy.

Stakeholder 
engagement 
policy and plan 
developed and 
implemented

1 1 0 -1 Target not achieved 
due to the Board 
not being able to 
form a quorum at 
its meetings in Q1 
and Q4. This was 
due to Board  
members’ resig-
nations and terms 
expiring.

PROGRAMME 3: PARTNERSHIPS, PUBLIC AWARENESS AND ADVOCACY

To carry out media development and diversity interventions
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 STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To expand our 
footprint as the 
MDDA by  
creating a  
positive image  
in pursuance of  
the MDDA’s  
mandate to grow 
the community 
and small 
commercial  
media by 2019

Communica-
tions strategy 
and plan

External  
publications

Communications 
plan reviewed 
and approved by 
Communications 
Committee by 
end of 1st quar-
ter of financial 
year

1 1 0 -1 Target not 
achieved due to 
the Board not 
being able to 
form a quorum 
at its meetings in 
Q1 and Q4. This 
was due to Board 
members’ resig-
nations and terms 
expiring.

Number of news-
letters produced 

Annual Report 
produced

Number of  
outreach 
programmes

Number of  
publicity  
campaigns  
implemented

Number of  
media awards 
hosted

2 4 4 0

1 1 1 0

16 16 16 0

1 1 1 0

0 1 0 -1

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Target not achieved 
as decision was 
taken at Board 
level in 2015/2016 
to cancel any 
further media 
awards pending 
outcomes of Media 
Awards and Impact 
Study. Delivery of 
the Impact Study 
was delayed until 
December 2017, 
which in turn 
delayed a decision 
to be made on the 
value and format of 
the media awards. 
A working party will 
be established in 
2018/2019 to take 
this decision.

Sub-programme 3.2: MDDA Brand Building
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 STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To encour-
age the 
development 
of human 
resources in 
community- 
based media 
projects 
through  
capacity 
building and 
media literacy 
training by 
2019

Management 
of Capacity 
Building  
Partnerships

Training 
Interventions 
and  
Workshops 

Number of 
partnership 
agreements with 
accredited  
learning and 
training  
Institutions

1 4 2 -2 Target not achieved 
due to capacity  
constraints, resulting 
from vacancies,  
within the unit. 
Recruitment of the 
Strategy Director and 
Research Manager 
positions is expected  
to be finalised in 
2018/19.

Number of  
MoUs signed 
with partners  
that enhance  
our projects’ 
environment

Number of train-
ing interventions 
such as learning 
forum, grantee 
orientation  
workshop, etc   

Number of  
media literacy  
workshops  
conducted

Number of  
media exchange 
programmes

2 2 2 0

4 6 5 -1

0 1 0 -1

0 1 0 -1

Achieved

Target not achieved 
due to capacity  
constraints, resulting 
from vacancies within 
the unit. Recruitment 
of the Strategy  
Director and Research  
Manager positions is 
expected to be  
finalised in 2018/19.

Target not achieved  
as media literacy  
workshop structure  
requires review, but 
has not yet been 
approved for imple-
mentation. This was 
due to both capacity 
constraints in the unit 
and the Board not 
being able to form a 
quorum at its meetings 
in Q1 and Q4.

Target not achieved 
as media literacy 
workshop structure 
requires review, but 
has not yet been 
approved for imple-
mentation. This was 
due to both capacity 
constraints in the unit 
and the Board not 
being able to form a 
quorum at its meet-
ings in Q1 and Q4.

Enhanced 
Media  
Literacy 

PROGRAMME 4: CAPACITY BUILDING AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT



M
D

D
A AN

N
U

AL R
EPO

R
T 2017 - 2018

43

 STRATEGIC  KEY PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  VARIANCE REASON FOR  
OBJECTIVE OUTPUT INDICATOR  2016/17 PERFORMANCE  VARIANCE
    AGAINST TARGET  
     TARGET ACTUAL  
    2017/18 2017/18

To champion 
research, 
development 
and innova-
tion to create 
a media 
development 
and diversity 
body of  
knowledge  
by 2019

Platform for 
stakeholder 
information 
sharing

Research 
Projects

Quarterly reports 
on updates to 
Content Hub 
produced 1 
month after each 
quarter end

Number of Re-
search projects 
commissioned

4 2 -2 Target not achieved 
due to capacity con-
straints, resulting from 
vacancies within the 
unit. Recruitment of 
the Strategy Director 
and Research  
Manager positions is 
expected to be  
finalised by end of  
Q1 2018/19.

1 (Content Hub 
developed)

Target not achieved 
due to both capacity 
constraints in the unit 
and the Board not 
being able to form a 
quorum at its meetings 
in Q1 and Q4.

PROGRAMME 5: INNOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

2 2 1 -1

In honour of Mandela Day, the MDDA planted  
vegetables at a home for the elderly,  

together with MDDA beneficiary, Mogale FM.
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Detailed Breakdown of Broadcast, Print and  
Digital Projects 

Active Grants (Approved 2017/2018 Financial 
Year)
Eight Community Broadcast Stations and six 
Print and Digital Small Commercial and Commu-
nity Publications were funded for the 2017/2018 
financial year. As a result of MDDA funding of 
community broadcast projects, 104 jobs were 
created.

Community Broadcast
• New (First time applicant) projects: 6  

(Community Radios)
• Strengthening: 2 (Community Radios) 

Print and Digital Media
• New (First time applicant) projects: 3  

(2 Newspapers and 1 Online site)
• Strengthening: 3 (Newspapers)

2.3 SUMMARY OF PROJECTS SUPPORTED FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

 Project type Amount approved Amount paid  Variance Reason for Variance 
 current year  current year  ̓ 000s 
 ̓ 000s ̓ 000s  

Community and Small R11,365  (R8,303)  R3,062  The variance is  
Commercial Print     mainly due to the Board  
    which did not have a  
    quorum and could not  
    approve projects.

Community Broadcast R19,132  (R35,960) R16,828  The variance is mainly  
    due to the fact that more  
    funds were disbursed to  
    projects that had been  
    approved in prior periods,  
    which would ordinarily  
    be classified as  
    commitments.

Research, Training and R3,438   (R2,759)  R680  The variance is mainly  
Capacity Building    due to the grantee  
    orientation workshops  
    which were deferred.
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With the MDDA mandate to support projects in historically disadvantaged communities, the support 
was weighted heavily towards media projects in rural areas.

Geographic/Footprint of the Projects Funded

District
Municipality
(DM)

Local
Municipality
(Based)

Community
Radio

Community
Print

Small
Commercial
Print

Digital
Publication

North West

Limpopo

Dr Kenneth
Kaunda

Maquassie
Hills

Diamond
FM

Vhembe Musina
Makhado

Musina FM
Vuwani
Community
Radio

Eastern Cape

OR Tambo

City of 
Cape Town
Metropolitan
Municipality

Kleva Nkeva
Online

Sarah
Baartman

iNgquza Hill

Mamre News

Ndlambe Ndlambe FM

Western Cape

Northern Cape

Francis Baard Sol Plaatjie Ntlhakgolo
News

Mpumalanga
Ehlanzeni Bushbuckridge The Youth

Voice
Rise FM

KwaZulu-Natal
ILembe SMME News

Ga Rankuwa
Community
Radio

Ugu Ray Nkonyeni Ugu Youth
Radio

Sedibeng Lesedi Mapepeza
Newspaper

City of Tshwane
Metropolitan
Municipality

Poort FM

Gauteng
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Kleva Nkeva Online www.clevankeva.co.za (First time funding) 
R935,979.00

Kleva Nkeva Online is a news and information publication of Kleva 
Nkeva Pty Ltd, which, founded in January 2017, is a 100% black-

owned community-based company operating in the rural sphere in the OR Tambo District Municipality. 
Its vision is to catalyse development of the Mpondoland region in the Eastern Cape. The company also 
has strong presence on social media platforms: Facebook (www.facebook.com/kleva.nkeva.58), Twitter 
(@KlevaNkeva) and YouTube (Kleva Nkeva).  Kleva Nkeva Pty Ltd has been appointed as the media 
partner for the annual week long youth development event, the Ingquza Hill Mayoral Week, and was  
also selected to implement the 2017 National Science Week activities in the Mpondoland area. 

While the company is primarily targeting the Mpondoland community in the iNgquza Hill Local  
Municipality, as an online news and information source, the publication will also be able to reach  
iNgquza Hill expatriates in other parts of the country and the world. 

Kleva Nkeva aims to be a reliable source of information that is relatable to the community within the 
context of its heritage and diversity. It will also be a tool to promote Science, Technology, Engineering, 
Mathematics & Innovation (STEMI) subjects in a simple and practical manner to school learners and 
general community members.

The MDDA grant covers human capital, equipment, telecommunications, bank charges and audit fees.

2.3.1 Print and Digital Media

Western Cape

Eastern Cape

Mamre News (Strengthening) - R700,000.00
Mamre News/Nuus was established in 2012 by young, unemployed people 
from the Mamre community in the City of Cape Town Metropolitan Munici-
pality in the Western Cape as a means of giving a voice to the community. 

The paper is distributed in Mamre, Atlantis, Century City, Dunoon, Joe Slo-
vo Park, Melkbosstrand and surrounding towns on the Cape West Coast but is specifically targeted at 
the Afrikaans-speaking communities largely found in the communities of Mamre and Atlantis. It aims 
to inform, educate and entertain and to instill a sense of pride in being the custodian of the Afrikaans 
language and culture in the Western Cape province. The project’s aim is to bridge the communication 
and information gap that exists between the Mamre communities of the Western Cape province and the 
different spheres of government, including the business community. The publication is a free 8-page 
monthly tabloid published in English (50%) and Afrikaans (50%), reflecting the demographics of the area.

Mamre News requested strengthening support to print and distribute consistently for 12 months, and 
add 10,000 copies of a 4-page special supplement insert for children every month. The MDDA grant 
covers printing and distribution, office rental, equipment, telecommunications, stipends, audit fees and 
bank charges.
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Ntlhakgolo News (First time funding) - R819,135.00
Ntlhakgolo News is owned by Ntlhakgolo Enterprise (Pty Ltd) and is an  
initiative to address critical issues that are faced by the community in the Sol  
Plaatjie Local Municipality of the Francis Baard District Municipality in the  
Northern Cape province. Ntlhakgolo Newspaper intends to work with the  
communities in the Sol Plaatjie Local Municipality to fight crime, women and 
child abuse, drug abuse especially by young people, and discrimination against  

people living with disability and HIV/AIDS. The publication also aims to provide a platform to small  
business ventures for advertisements and exposure in order to reach potential clients. The current  
media in the area do not serve the needs of the previously disadvantaged groups and are written in 
Afrikaans and English.

Ntlhakgolo Newspaper will be an A3 size, 16 pager newspaper with eight pages printed in full colour 
and distributed monthly. The publication will be printed in 60% Setswana and 40% Xhosa. The MDDA 
funds cover salaries, equipment, furniture, running costs, printing and distribution, website development,  
hosting and maintenance, and auditing. 

Northern Cape

The Youth Voice (Strengthening) - R765,000.00
The Youth Voice is a small commercial newspaper founded in 2010 by  
Lerato la batho, a 100% black owned company. The project targets youth and 
schools of the Ehlanzeni District Municipality which, per the previous cen-
sus, has some 41.9% of the province’s population (Mpumalanga).  The paper  
positions itself as a multi-racial youth publication in the Bushbuckridge Local  
Municipality. 

The Youth Voice’s aim is to make the youth and unemployed aware of job  
opportunities and to encourage them to take positive steps in life and make  

informed career choices. Besides targeting youth, The Youth Voice also carries local community stories,  
insight about the economy, politics, government programmes, notices, and SMME and business  
opportunities. A commercial page is in place to allow these SMMEs to advertise their products and  
success stories are included as content to encourage more players. Domestic stories dealing with child  
care, cooking, meetings, educational  tips and local sports are covered in the publication. The Youth 
Voice publishes in 60% English, 15% SiSwati, 10% Xitsonga, 10% Sepulane and 5% Afrikaans.

Mpumalanga

SMME News (Strengthening) - R810,500.00
SMME News is a monthly newspaper established to respond to the public  
policy imperative to enhance capacity building in local communities, especially 
for previously disadvantaged individuals and small, medium and micro enter-
prises (SMMEs) operating in rural, semi-rural and township environments. It is 
a project of Phumelela Farms and Projects - a primary co-operative owned and 
controlled mainly by black women. The publication’s main objective is to equip 
individuals who want to start their own businesses with the necessary skills and 
expertise to succeed. 

The newspaper is published in isiZulu and English, and has focused on the rural, semi-rural and urban 
communities of KwaZulu-Natal, namely ILembe District Municipality, since 2016, but has plans to ex-
pand.

As a previous MDDA beneficiary, the project requested strengthening support to increase the print run 
and expand its distribution network to eThekwini and Ugu Municipalities.

KwaZulu-Natal
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Diamond FM (First time funding) - R2,472,000.00
Diamond FM is based in Wolmaransstad and licensed to broadcast in  
Maquassie Hills Local Municipality in the Dr Kaunda District Municipality in 
the North West. The community radio station has been providing broadcast  
services in the area since early 2017 via internet streaming. The station’s aim 

is to empower its listenership by addressing socio-economic problems in the area of coverage.  The 
license conditions are a broadcast format of 60% talk and 40% music. Setswana (40%), Sesotho 
(15%), English (20%), Afrikaans (10%) and other (15%) are the broadcast languages. News constitutes  
65 minutes per day, of which 50% is local. The station broadcasts on 98.7 MHz, 24 hours a day, seven 
days a week.

Diamond FM is 100% owned by the people of Maquassie Hill Municipality and governed by people of 
the area through seven Board members representing the community. The MDDA grant covers digital 
on-air and production studios, salaries, operational costs and signal distribution.

Gauteng

Mapepeza Community Newspaper (First time funding) - R907,600.00
Mapepeza Community Newspaper is a free multi-lingual (English (20%),  
isiZulu (50%), Sesotho (30%)), small commercial newspaper, which is distributed 
mainly in the communities of Lesedi Local Municipality in the Sedibeng District  
Municipality of Gauteng. First published in 2013 by Lolliepop Trading & Projects 
(Pty) Ltd, a 100% black-owned company, Mapepeza Community Newspaper 
has grown to become a household name in local news, views and opinions for 
people. 

The newspaper is distributed every Friday in townships and small towns surrounding towns, with 
5,000 copies printed weekly. The project uses different distribution methods for different markets, e.g 
free-fetch at retailers, government offices, libraries, schools, etc; street vendors in taxi ranks, CBDs and 
townships; and door-to-door delivery at clients and stakeholders’ offices.

North West

Musina FM (First time funding) - R2,561,600.00
Musina FM is based in Musina, Vhembe District Municipality in  
Limpopo Province.  The station is at the last South African town on the 
way to Zimbabwe, making Musina a site of many cultures and radio is a 
very important medium to bring these cultures together.  The community  
radio station has been providing broadcast services in the area since the 

early 2000’s and has remained relevant thanks to a diverse and quality programming.  The community 
radio station targets the whole community and all ages. 

The license conditions are a broadcast format of 60% talk and 40% music, with broadcast languages  
comprising Afrikaans (10%), Tshivhenda (30%), Sepedi (25%), Xitsonga (10%) and English (25%).  The 
station broadcasts 40 minutes of news per day, 60% coming from the Vhembe District Municipality com-
munity. The station’s broadcast frequency is 104.0 MHz, and it broadcasts 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week.

Musina FM is wholly owned by the people of Vhembe District Municipality with six members on the 
Board representing the community. MDDA funds cover digital on-air and capital expenditure, salaries, 
operational costs, office equipment and transmission.

Limpopo

2.3.2 Community Broadcast



M
D

D
A AN

N
U

AL R
EPO

R
T 2017 - 2018

49

Vuwani Community Radio (First time funding) – R2,477,600.00 
Based in Vuwani, Vhembe District Municipality in the Limpopo, the  
Vuwani Community Radio station is focused on local youth. The  
station is governed by the Board of Governors drawn from the area 
of the station’s broadcast.  The radio station is licensed to broadcast 
in Vuwani and surrounding areas using a broadcast format of 60%  
music and 40% talk time, using English (10%), Tshivenda (70%), and 

Xitsonga (20%). The station provides 75 minutes of news per day, of which 70% is local. Broadcast  
frequency is 88.7 MHz and hours of broadcast are 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

Vuwani operates from the Vuwani area which has seen recent social unrest, a reason, according to  
reports, being that people were not consulted and their voices not heard when the demarcation of the 
area was conducted. This makes radio a strategic platform through which to engage people. MDDA 
funds cover broadcast equipment, transmission, operational costs, personnel costs and programme 
production.

Ndlambe FM (First time funding) – R2,654,600.00
Ndlambe FM was established in 2008 and registered in 2009 by  
community members. It is based in Ndlambe Local Municipality of  
the Sarah Baartman District Municipality in the Eastern Cape, where 
unemployment is a huge challenge. 

The station is licensed to broadcast in the Ndlambe Local Municipality using 60% talk and 40% music. 
The station broadcasts in three languages as follows: English (75%), Afrikaans (10%) and IsiXhosa 
(15%), providing news to a total of 20 minutes per day, of which 10 minutes is local. The station operates 
at 99.0 MHz, broadcasting 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

When the station was launched it was privately funded, but it is now 100% owned by the people of  
Ndlambe Local Municipality, with five Board members representing the community. 

MDDA funds cover broadcasting equipment, transmitter, salaries and operational costs.

Eastern Cape

Limpopo

Rise FM (Strengthening) - R2,622,600.00
Rise FM is licensed to provide services to Bushbuckridge Local Munic-
ipality in the Ehlanzeni District Municipality in Mpumalanga Province. 
The format is 60% talk and 40% music and the broadcast languag-
es are Sepulana (20%), isiSwati (10%), Xitsonga (20%) and English 

(50%).  The station broadcasts 24 hours a day, seven days a week at a frequency of 88.4 MHz. The 
project has eight members of the Board elected by the beneficiary communities.

Rise FM Community Radio is on air and targets people from the ages of 15-60 years from Acornhoek in 
Bushbuckridge and surrounding areas in the Mpumalanga Province. It has aligned its programmes with 
government strategies that are aimed at addressing the challenges of under-development and general 
socio-economic issues in the area.  

The MDDA grant covers broadcast equipment, transmission, operational costs and salaries.

Mpumalanga
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Ugu Youth Radio (First time funding) – R2,280,600.00
Ugu Youth Radio was established by young people in the district as a vehicle to 
drive the views and aspirations of the community and disseminate information 
about issues that affect them directly. Ugu Youth Radio targets young people, 
even though the entire community listens to the community radio station. Apart 

from the content, there is also a commitment of social responsibility by promoting young artists and cul-
tural activities that will have positive impact in their lives.

The station is licensed to cover Ugu District Municipality and surrounding areas in KwaZulu-Natal Prov-
ince. The format is 60% talk and 40% music and broadcast languages are English (25%), isiZulu (60%) 
and isiXhosa (15%).  The project has been licensed to broadcast 24 hours a day, seven days a week at 
a frequency of 93.4 MHz. 

MDDA funding covers studio equipment, transmission, outside broadcast equipment, power back-up, 
operational costs and salaries.  

KwaZulu-Natal

Ga Rankuwa Community Radio (First time funding) - R2,393,195.25
Ga Rankuwa Community Radio is based in Ga Rankuwa in the City of Tshwane 
Metropolitan Municipality in Gauteng. The radio station initiative was established 
in 2001 and later registered as an NPO with the involvement of the Ga Rankuwa 
community in July 2009. The radio station was initially known as Radio Medunsa, 

but a number of institutional changes affected the brand as well the operations of the station. 

The station broadcasts in the local dominant language of SeTswana (30%) and English (70%), catering 
for the student community, with the primary objective being to be a link between the medical institution 
that works closely with the neighbouring Dr George Mukhari Academic Hospital and the greater commu-
nity of Ga Rankuwa. As such, it is unique in being centred on servicing the community outside the institu-
tion’s gates with important information and education on health matters and other medical programmes 
and developments in the country. 

The station is licensed to broadcast across Ga Rankuwa and surrounding areas, using a broadcast for-
mat of 60% talk and 40% music. Of the local news and information broadcast, 60% is local. The station 
operates at 97 MHz, 24 hours a day, seven days a week .

Gauteng

Poort FM (Strengthening) - R71,820.00
In 2015 the Honourable President Jacob Zuma visited the community of Eerste- 
rus in Pretoria as part of a Presidential Izimbizo and made a commitment to 
assist the community establish its own community radio to drive the development 
agenda in the area. The primary stakeholders/task team that took the lead in the 
project were the Department of Communications, the MDDA, ICASA, SENTECH 
and NEMISA.  

The proposed radio station, Poort FM, was granted but not issued with a Broadcast Service License, 
pending the finalisation of the frequency spectrum which is currently not available in Eersterus. As a  
result, it was proposed that the Eersterus community, in the interim, share a platform with Mams FM 
(Poort on Mams FM), with a satellite studio in Eersterus. Mams FM is licensed to broadcast in Mamelodi 
and surrounding areas of the City of Tshwane Metropolitan Municipality in Gauteng. 

The broadcast format is 60% talk and 40% music with news for 64 minutes per day, of which 60% is 
local. The station operates at 92.95 MHz for 24 hours a day, seven days a week.  MDDA funding was 
approved for the Audio Codecs to connect the satellite station to Mams FM.
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2.3.3 Research, Training and Development

 Name  Date Partners Amount funded Number of  
     attendees

 Stigma and  29-30 November 2017 Soul City R30,000.00 41
 Discrimination Reduction
 Training Programme 29 February – 9 March 2018
 Science Journalism  14-15 March 2018 SAASTA R68,600.00 47
 Grantee Orientation 28-29 September 2017 MDDA R480,000.00 46
 Workshop
 Reporting on Race and 16-20 October 2017 IAJ   R114,180.00 10
 Migration Conference

 Glass Ceiling – Gender  2017/18 Gender Links R960,000.00  
 in South African Media  
 Houses

Science Journalism

The MDDA signed a Memorandum of Under-
standing with the South African Agency for Sci-
ence and Technology Advancement (SAASTA) 
in 2015/2016 to promote excellence and creativi-
ty in science journalism. Training workshops and 
internship programmes for unemployed gradu-
ates and journalists aged between 18 to 35 years 
have been run for two years, together with the 
MDDA-supported Community and Small Com-
mercial Media. 

The Science and Technology Youth Journalist 
Programme is being implemented within district 
municipalities where the Innovation Partnership 
for Rural Development Programme (IPRDP) 
technologies are being demonstrated. 

Over the past year, SAASTA hosted a science 
journalism workshop to capacitate both print and 
broadcast media journalists. The MDDA iden-
tified nine community media projects from the 
Western Cape and Free State provinces, which 
had not yet been part of the programme (four 
community media projects per province and 
one journalist per community media house). The 
Agency organised and covered participants’ trav-
el and accommodation costs. 

Stigma and Discrimination Reduction Train-
ing Programme 
Reducing the rate of self-reported HIV and TB 
stigma by 50% is one of five priority goals of the 
South African National Strategic Plan on HIV, 
sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and TB, 
while reducing stigma and discrimination to en-
sure access to services is a related goal. This 
objective is best served when the rights of those 

living with HIV, STIs and/or TB are respected, 
protected and promoted.

The MDDA, in partnership with the Soul City In-
stitute for Social Justice, ran a Stigma and Dis-
crimination and Reduction Training Programme 
for Community Media, with 41 print and broad-
cast journalists attending the workshops held 
in three provinces of South Africa. Communi-
ty media attending hailed from KwaZulu-Natal, 
Gauteng and the Free State and were selected 
from areas where HIV and tuberculosis (TB) are 
heavily concentrated. The training course en-
couraged community media entities to contribute 
to decreasing the rate of HIV and TB prevalence 
in South Africa, by stimulating dialogue and pro-
moting awareness around HIV and TB stigma 
related issues, as well as by alerting the commu-
nity to its responsibility to reduce the occurrence 
of such stigma. 

The workshop used a participatory training 
methodology, built around small group discus-
sion, drama and presentations on stigma relat-
ed problems drawn from various contexts. This 
created an environment whereby participants 
could share their ideas and experience, as well 
as re-examining their attitudes towards people 
living with HIV and marginalised groups. The ac-
tivities enabled participants to understand their 
roles as they learn to work together with infected 
people, in order to collectively develop strategies 
to deal with stigma.

IAJ Reporting on Race and Migration Confer-
ence 
The Institute for the Advancement of Journalism 
(IAJ) hosted a ‘Reporting on Race and Migration’ 
conference in October 2017, and simultaneously 
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sought to train community media practitioners on 
how to write and package Migration stories. The 
training was run parallel with the week-long con-
ference and the conference served as a practical 
session for the trainee journalists. The training 
was pitched at NQF Level 5 under two Unit Stan-
dards (‘Interview for a variety of Journalistic pur-
poses’, as well as ‘Collect Information for Jour-
nalistic use’). Participants received certificates of 
competence.
   
Glass Ceiling – Gender in South African  
Media Houses 
The research by Gender Links is focused on 

gender equality and women’s participation in the 
media, as well as in decision making positions 
in media houses in South Africa. The research 
is being conducted in newsrooms, including 
community media newsrooms countrywide, and 
will analyse statistics of women employed with- 
in the media houses as well as those occupy-
ing senior positions. The term glass ceiling im-
plies that invisible or artificial barriers exist which 
prevent women from advancing within their jobs 
or receiving promotions. The glass ceiling effect 
is also considered a possible contributor to the 
gender wage gap or income disparity. 

Editor of MDDA beneficiary, Ikhwezi News.



ENVIRONMENTAL
LANDSCAPE AND  
FUNDING

PART THREE
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 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018

COMMUNITY SPEND 

Community Radio R37,094,098.30 R32 179 213.14 R34,475,926.94 R42,881,105.78 R52,707,414.97 

 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018

COMMUNITY SPEND

Community Print R4,865,651.80 R6,927,315.53 R5,289,034.04 R2,221,207.04 R30,606.72

Community Radio R11,415,688.27 R15,170,546.84 R26,274,787.27 R22,054,282.25 R23,549,365.92

Community TV R6,650,550.98 R9,553,537.97 R4,630,808.00 R4,395,710.63 R1,551,383.58

TOTAL ADSPEND R22,931,891.05 R31,651,400.34 R36,194,629,31 R28,671,199.92 R25,131,356.22

3.1  GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  
 OF LOCAL MEDIA 

The MDDA Act No. 14 of 2002 established the 
MDDA to help create an enabling environment 
for media development and diversity that is con-
ducive to public discourse and which reflects the 
needs and aspirations of all South Africans.

Despite the fact that transformation of the media 
remains a challenge for South African democra-
cy, the media landscape has changed consider-
ably since 2004, with the MDDA being the larg-
est contributor to enabling access to, control of  
and management of the sector by historically 
disadvantaged individuals. Of the approximate-
ly 257 community radio stations in existence, 
135 were and some 84 still are funded by the 
MDDA. More than ever before, all the languag-
es of South Africa are being actively used to  

communicate to and engage with communi-
ties. The MDDA has invested significantly in the  
purchase of world class radio equipment,  
enabling quality productions. 

The community TV station sector has also grown 
into a resilient industry. The MDDA has support-
ed four stations, two of which are currently sup-
ported. 

Similarly, the community and small commercial 
print sector has grown significantly in recent 
years with South Africa now boasting more than 
200 small publishers, a large proportion of which 
are publishing in an indigenous language. The 
MDDA has funded in total some 53 community 
print projects, with 26 of these currently being 
funded, and 93 small commercial print projects, 
with 31 still being funded.

3.2 ADVERTISING REVENUE

Attracting advertising revenue both from the pub-
lic and private sectors is key to the sustainabili-
ty of local media and the MDDA has focused on 
assisting community media attract such revenue.

GCIS Revenue Indicator

The Media Connection Revenue Indicator

A detailed account of the revenue breakdowns 
for community media as traded through the GCIS 
and The Media Connection is shown below. This 
is largely due to the MDDA intervention in this 
space.
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3.3 SOCIO-ECONOMIC IMPACT AND RETURN ON INVESTMENT

Item   Number (Cumulative to date)
Number of jobs created through projects funded 2,098
- Full time employed  778
- Part time interns/freelancers  1,320
Number of people trained  3,295 
Number of bursaries  348
Total Community Radio listenership  8,790,000 (as of March 2016 RAMS)
Total Radio listenership  33,562,000 (as of March 2016 RAMS)

3.4 FUNDING OF THE AGENCY

Section 15 of the MDDA Act provides for funding 
of the Agency consisting of:
•  money appropriated by Parliament;
•  money received in terms of agreements con-

templated in section 21;
•  domestic and foreign grants;
•  interest derived from any investments; or
•  money lawfully accruing from any other source.

The money referred to above must be utilised to:
•  fund projects and activities connected there-

with, including project evaluation, feasibility 
studies, needs analyses, research and train-
ing; and

•  defray expenses, including expenses regard-
ing remuneration, allowances, pensions and 
other service benefits referred to in section 
12 (6) of the Act, incurred by the Agency in 
the performance of its functions under the  
Act, as long as such expenses do not exceed 
the prescribed percentage of the funds re-
ferred to above.

Description 2013/2014  2014/2015  2015/2016  2016/17  2017/18
 R R R R R

Total budget from DoC 20,790,000  21,815,000  22,615,000  23,814,000     30,005,000

Broadcast Funders 31,799,776  32,212,694 34,387,098 45,615,000 48,257,000

Print Funders  4,000,000  4,000,000 0 0 0

TOTAL  35,799,776  36,212,694 34,397,098 69,429,000 78,262,000
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Broadcast Partners
•  Multichoice
•  South African Broadcasting Corporation Ltd (SABC)
•  Electronic Media Network Ltd (M-Net)
•  e-TV (Pty) Ltd
•  Primedia Broadcasting (Pty) Ltd
•  Kagiso Broadcasting (Pty) Ltd (East Coast Radio)
•  Kagiso Broadcasting (Pty) Ltd (Jacaranda FM)
•  AME (Radio Algoa)
•  AME (OFM)
•  Kaya FM
•  Yfm
•  Capricorn FM
•  Heart FM
•  Radio Pulpit
•  Starsat

Foreign Grants
No foreign grants were received in the year under 
review.

Rollover
For the period under review, the MDDA has re-
quested R104 million rollover of funds in respect 
to committed funds to be disbursed to project 
beneficiaries and services providers at a future 
date. 

Funding Cycles
The MDDA is funded by Government through the 
Department of Communications and by broadcast 
media companies as per funding agreements 
signed between the MDDA and these partners.

The funding cycle from Government is in line 
with the Agency’s financial year, which is April to 
March. However, the funding cycle for broadcast 
funds is November to November. Due to the dif-
ferent cycles of funding, the MDDA will always, at 
the financial year end, reflect funds from broad-
cast funders that still need to be approved.

Regulatory and Contractual Requirements
MDDA regulations state that:
•   at least 60% of grant funds should go to  

 community media projects;
•   at least 25% to small commercial projects;
•   5% to research projects.

In 2018, the Eastern Cape Women’s Magazine celebrates eight years  
of its beneficiary partnership with the MDDA.
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PART FOUR

GOVERNANCE 
AND LEGAL
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4.1 THE BOARD

The Board consists of nine members; six mem-
bers are appointed on the recommendation of 
Parliament, after a public nomination process 
which is open, transparent, and with a publica-
tion of a shortlist of candidates for appointment. 
Three members are appointed by the President, 
taking into consideration the funding of the Agen-
cy, of whom one is from the commercial print 
media and another one from the commercial 
broadcast media. The President of the Republic 
of South Africa appoints one of the members as 
Chairperson of the Board. Members are appoint-
ed on a non-executive basis and are required to 
commit to fairness, freedom of expression, open-
ness and accountability. Members take an oath 
or affirmation before performing duties, commit-

ting themselves to upholding and protecting the 
Constitution and the other laws of the Republic.

The Board acts as an Accounting Authority and 
appoints the Chief Executive Officer in terms of 
Section 13 of the MDDA Act to act as an Ac-
counting Officer.

The Agency acts only through the Board and is 
required by law to be:
•  independent;
•  impartial; and
•  exercise its powers and perform its duties 

without fear, favour or prejudice; and without 
any political or commercial interference.

Further, the Act provides for the Agency not to 
interfere in the editorial content of the media.

28 April 2017        Board Meeting (Telecon) 
30 May 2017             Special Board Meeting
31 July 2017 Board Meeting
07 August 2017 Special Board Meeting (Closed session) 
23 August 2017 Board Meeting
19 September 2017 Special Board Meeting 
29 September 2017 Board Meeting
13 October 2017 Board Meeting (Adjudication)
30 October 2017 Board Meeting (Approve Q2 Financial Report) 
27 November Board Meeting (Closed session)
25 & 26 January 2018  Board Strategic Planning Meeting 
02 February 2018 Board Meeting with Company Secretary 
28 March 2018 Board Meeting

4.2 CODE OF ETHICS

The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics to ensure each member acts with integrity when performing his 
or her responsibilities on behalf of the MDDA. The Code outlines the Board’s fiduciary duties and defines 
its responsibilities towards stakeholders, staff members, and Government.

All members of the Board have also taken an oath or affirmation committing them to the following prin-
ciples:
• Fairness;
• Freedom of expression;
• Openness;
• Accountability; and
• Upholding and protecting the Constitution and other laws of South Africa.

A minimum of four Board meetings are held annually in accordance with Section 10 of the MDDA Act.

Schedule of Board and Committee Meetings (2017/2018) 

MDDA Board Meetings
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MDDA Board Sub-committee Meetings 

07 April 2017 REMCO Meeting
21 April 2017 ICT Committee - Telecon
28 April 2017 ARC Meeting 
12 May 2017 Combined ARC & Board Meeting
24 May 2017 Special ARC Meeting 
30 July 2017 ARC Meeting 
22 August 2017 ARC Meeting (Review of APP & SBP)
25 August 2017 Special Combined ARC & Board Meeting
26 August 2017 REMCO Meeting 
01 September 2017  REMCO Meeting 
13 November 2017 Bilateral Meeting with Minister of DoC 
27 November 2017 Special Combined ARC & Board Meeting
16 January 2018 REMCO Meeting                 
24 January 2018 ARC Meeting
15 & 19 Feb 2018 REMCO Meeting 
19 February 2018 Research & Training Committee Meeting
02 March 2018 Research Committee & Project Oversight Meeting 
15 March 2018 Corporate Affairs Committee & Project Oversight Committee Meeting 
27 January 2018 ARC Meeting
22 March 2018 Projects Committee (Telecon) 

Presentation of the MDDA Impact Study in Parliament.
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NAMES NUMBER SPECIAL  NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF OTHER
 OF BOARD  BOARD  AUDIT &  GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION TENDER MEETINGS
 MEETINGS MEETINGS RISK COMMITTEE & HR COMMITTEE ATTENDED
 ATTENDED  COMMITTEE  MEETINGS COMMITTEE MEETINGS    
   MEETINGS  ATTENDED MEETINGS ATTENDED
   ATTENDED  ATTENDED
     
Phelisa Nkomo
Chairperson
Term ended: 
22/01/2018  5  4  3  0  3  0  12

Louise Vale
Term ended: 
05/02/2018  6  3  2  0  5  0  7
 
Palesa Kadi
Resigned: 
05/05/2017  0  0  1  0  0  0  0

Musa Sishange
(Acting
Chairperson 
from 
27/11/2017)  8  3  8  5  9  1  14

Neo Momodu
Resigned: 
25/04/2017  0  0  0  0  0  0  0
 
Zanele Mngadi
Resigned: 
30/08/2017  1  0  0  0  0  0  0

Tasneem Carrim
Appointed: 
28/09/2017
Term ended: 
27/01/2018  4  0  2  0  1  0  3

Nkgakga
Monare
Appointed: 
28/09/2017  4  0  0  2  3  0  2

Ronald Lamola
Appointed: 
19/10/2017
Resigned: 
16/01/2018  3  0 0 0 0 0 0

Nombeko Mbava
Appointed: 
19/10/2017  4  0 2 5 0 0 3 
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4.4 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The MDDA approach to Enterprise Risk Man-
agement (ERM) is aimed at evaluating, manag-
ing and optimising the opportunities, threats and 
uncertainties that the MDDA may encounter in its 
efforts to maximise sustainable shareholder val-
ue. Risk management is supported by the Audit 
and Risk Committee (ARC) and assured by ex-
ternal audits and the Internal Audit function.

ERM is designed to identify potential events that 
may affect the organisation, manage risks to 
within its risk appetite and ultimately provide rea-
sonable assurance that the MDDA will achieve 
its objectives. ERM is applied throughout the or-
ganisation and the process is supplemented by 
the MDDA Risk Management Framework and a 
comprehensive set of risk policies and limits.

Embedding risk management techniques in day-
to-day operations equips the MDDA to identify 
events that affect its objectives and manage risk 
in a manner consistent with the corporate strat-
egy. Within this context, all risk to the Agency, 
including those associated with sustainability, 
are managed according to the ‘three lines of  
defence’ governance model, as outlined above.

The MDDA’s ERM framework is based on the 
principles embodied in the Public Finance Man-

agement Act (PFMA), 1 of 1999, Public Sector 
Risk Management Framework published by Na-
tional Treasury, Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework published by the Committee of Spon-
soring Organisations (COSO) of the Treadway 
Commission, International Guideline on Risk 
Management (ISO 31000), King Code on Gover-
nance Principles (King III) and Batho Pele princi-
ples. The principles outlined in the framework are 
incorporated in risk management-related policies 
and procedures that support the Agency’s ERM 
framework.

The objectives of this framework are to embed 
a uniform approach to ERM at the MDDA and 
identify and assess all the risks that could affect 
the achievement of the Agency’s objectives, its 
people, reputation, business processes and sys-
tems, as well as its financial and environmental 
performance. It also serves to ensure that these 
risks are dealt with at an acceptable level.

MDDA undertakes a risk assessment annually, 
in compliance with PFMA conditions and aligned 
with the King III and Public Sector Risk Man-
agement Framework recommendations. The 
purpose of this process is to identify, measure 
and manage potential critical risks (strategic,  
financial, governance, operational and IT gover-
nance) for the Agency to formulate appropriate 
risk strategies and action plans.

4.3 LEGAL DISPUTES

The following Legal Disputes were in progress at year end:

KOFIFI // MDDA Contractual dispute - Judgement MDDA is in the process of taking
TYPE OF CASE granted in favour of Kofifi Media for the matter on Appeal
  MDDA to release funds they had
  previously awarded to Kofifi Media
ABANDONMENT Contractual dispute  – equipment fitted Matter is currently in arbitration
MEDIA // MDDA at Zibonele Community Radio due to
  administrative error by MDDA
  appointing Abandonment Media as
  Service Providers

Case Type Status
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4.5 INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT AND  
      RISK COMMITTEE

The Internal Audit function was co-sourced during 
2017/2018 and has the responsibility for review-
ing and providing assurance on the systems of 
internal control, risk management and gover-
nance processes across MDDA operations. The 
Internal Audit function reports directly to the Audit 
and Risk Committee Chairperson and adminis-
tratively to the Chief Executive Officer.

In line with the PFMA, the Internal Audit cover-
age plan was informed by the risk management 
process. 

Internal Audit assists management in identifying, 
evaluating and assessing significant risks and 
provides reasonable assurance as to the adequa-
cy and effectiveness of related internal controls, 
i.e. whether controls are appropriate and func-
tioning as intended. Where controls are found to 
be deficient or not operating as intended, recom-
mendations for enhancement or improvement 
are provided. This is done in collaboration with 
internal and external assurance providers.  The 
Internal Audit Manager is responsible for report-
ing the findings of the Internal Audit work against 
the approved Internal Audit Plan to management 
and the Audit and Risk Committee.

The MDDA conducted 14 Internal Audit reviews 
during the year.  The results of audits performed 
for the year were reported to ARC as required 
per mandate.  

4.6 FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The MDDA does not tolerate any form of fraud 
or corruption, either internal or from project part-
ners, stakeholders and suppliers. These princi-
ples are echoed in policies and documents of 
the MDDA, including the Code of Ethics for the 
Board, the Code of Practice for all staff and the 
Disciplinary Code.  

An annual strategic risk assessment was con-
ducted in the first quarter of 2017/2018 with the 
intention of identifying unwanted events (with 
negative impact on MDDA). Specific control 
measures were identified in order to reduce the 
likelihood and impact of the identified risks. The 

Risk Management process is a continuous pro-
cess, and the risks and controls will be frequently 
revisited to improve the effectiveness of the con-
trol environment to enable achievement of com-
pany objectives.

A fraud and corruption prevention and aware-
ness plan was developed, also in the first quar-
ter of 2017/2018, emphasising the importance of 
understanding how to identify, prevent and report 
fraud at the MDDA. 

In terms of these policies, any employee involved 
in fraud or corruption will be summarily dismissed. 
Any person found guilty of such charges will further 
be reported on as required by the Public Finance 
Management Act, (No.1 of 1999), have criminal 
charges laid against them and face legal action to  
recover the amounts involved.

4.7 MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTER- 
 EST

In terms of the Board’s Code of Ethics, each 
member of the Board must make an annu-
al declaration of interests, in order to ensure 
decisions are fair and to protect the Agen-
cy against perceptions of bias or conflict of  
interest.

In addition, all employees of the MDDA are re-
quired to make a declaration of interest on join-
ing the MDDA and annually while in the employ 
of the Agency. 

4.8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

The MDDA Code of Conduct states that all  
employees and stakeholders must comply with 
all laws and regulations which relate to their  
activities for and on behalf of the employer.  The 
Employer will not condone violation of the law 
or unethical business dealings - at any level of 
the Agency.  All employees and stakeholders are 
therefore expected to ensure that their conduct 
cannot be misinterpreted as being in contraven-
tion of this requirement.
 
4.9 HEALTH SAFETY & ENVIRONMENT

The MDDA strives to foster and maintain a sta-
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ble, healthy, safe and productive working envi-
ronment and implements a wellness scheme, 
with regular wellness awareness days, that is 
available for all employees.

The Agency has a policy which does not unfair-
ly discriminate against persons who choose to 
smoke.  However, all general work areas have 
been designated as “smoke-free”.  

Membership of the Discovery Medical Aid 
Scheme is compulsory for all employees, with the 
exception of those employees who are, and wish 
to remain members of an alternative scheme of 
which their spouse or partner is already a mem-
ber.  

In accordance with the Agency’s corporate re-
sponsibility to comply with Laws and Regula-
tions, and its intent to provide its employees 
with a safe and secure working environment, 
the Agency takes all reasonable steps to provide 
secure premises and safe equipment.  The con-
trolled access to the Agency’s work areas and 
general premises is maintained in accordance 
with relevant security and safety procedures to 
protect property, possessions and persons.
 
Environmental Responsibility
In terms of the Agency’s public responsibility and 
its commitment to conserving resources used 
in its business operations, all stakeholders are 
expected to use their best efforts to make effi-
cient and safe use of supplies and materials at 
their disposal.  In the interests of the public, the 
community and preserving the environment, the 

management of any impact on the environment 
by business operations is integrated into all op-
erating procedures.

4.10 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The mandate of the MDDA, as set out in the 
MDDA Act No. 14 of 2002, defines the core of  
the Agency’s responsibility to social and eco-
nomic transformation and community upliftment 
as: to help create an enabling environment for 
media development and diversity that is condu-
cive to public discourse and which reflects the 
needs and aspirations of all South Africans.

The National Development Plan - Vision 2030 
(NDP) informs the Agency’s strategic and annual 
performance plans, which speak directly to three 
outcomes of the South African Government’s  
Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) pri-
orities. The latter is structured around 14 priority 
outcomes, which cover focus areas identified in 
the NDP.  Outcomes six (6), twelve (12) and four-
teen (14) of the MTSF are relevant to the MDDA.

MDDA Empowerment Strategy
The MDDA is committed to objectives and initia-
tives as captured in concepts such as BEE and 
employment equity. Objectives of the MDDA em-
powerment strategy are to
• Accelerate empowerment of BEE, HDI and 

SMME for:
 -  Employment creation;
 -  Economic development;
 -  Wealth creation; and
 -  Poverty reduction.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

PART FIVE
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5.2 EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

The MDDA engages with employees through a 
variety of platforms to identify and attend to their 
needs and concerns, as well as address any un-
certainties arising from the changes in the organ-
isation and policy matters.
    
The Human Resources Policies and Procedures 
manual is continuously updated and reviewed to 
increase its relevance and manage the risks as-
sociated with its implementation.

5.3 LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

All training undertaken during the reporting  
period was based on the employee and the  

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY PROFILE
_________________________________________________________________________________
Levels    Males     Females  Total
  A  C  I  W  A C I  W
_________________________________________________________________________________
Executive/Senior Manager  0  0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0
Manager  2 0  0  0  4  0  0  1   7
Professionals/Specialist  5  1  0  0  10  0  0  0   16
Administrative/Support  0  0  0  0  3 0  0  0   3
_________________________________________________________________________________

Total                                    7  1  0 0  17  0  0  1 26 
_________________________________________________________________________________

Internship 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 0  5
Learnership 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
_________________________________________________________________________________
Grand Total  11 1  0  0  19 0  0  1 32
_________________________________________________________________________________

A - African C - Coloured I - Indian W - White

The key thrust of the MDDA Human Resources Management strategic imperative is to continue to build 
capacity and create the environment that enables the MDDA to achieve its mandate as specified in the 
MDDA Act of 2002.

5.1 STAFF COMPLEMENT

There was a total permanent staff complement 
of 26 at the end of the period under review, out 
of 39 approved positions. There were two ter-
minations and three appointments during the 
FY 2017/2018; and five interns commenced on 
5 March 2018, while one Learner (Person with 
Disability) commenced work on 1 August 2017. 

The table below shows the distribution of staff by 
level, gender and race.

The Employment Equity staff profile percentage 
of black employees was 96% of the overall staff 
complement. Female employees constitute 60%.

organisational needs. A total cost of R311,009.76 
was spent on skills development. A skills audit as 
well as competency assessments were under-
taken to ascertain the gap in the skills and com-
petencies required against those that exist within 
the organisation. This will be used as a feeder 
into individual development plans. 

5.4 REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

Employees are remunerated on a Total-Cost- 
To-Company basis so as to facilitate greater  
salary package flexibility and competitiveness in 
the market, as well as paying at an equitable rate 
for services rendered. The principle applied is 
equal pay for work of equal value.
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MDDA offers benefits such as a provident fund, 
medical aid (Discovery) and study assistance. A 
medical aid subsidy of R1,598.87 per month was 
offered for the 2017/2018 financial year. In this re-
gard and in order to ensure that employees enjoy 
the full benefits of the service, it is compulsory 
for employees at the MDDA to join the medical 
aid scheme.   

Position  African       Asian   Coloured   White  Disabled  Total
(A)- Acting  Male  Female Male  Female  Male  Female  Male  Female   Male  Female

Chief Executive Officer  (A) (A)         Vacant
Chief Financial Officer  (A)          Vacant
Project Director            Vacant
Internal Audit Manager                 Vacant
Internal Audit Officer  1                   1
Risk Specialist                                Vacant
HR & Corp Affairs Mngr   1          1 
Project Managers  1  1                                                 2
Project Officers  3  1                                                                                       4
Exec. Secretary to CEO   1          1
Company Secretary   1         1
Legal and Contracts Adviser            Vacant
Finance Admin Officer   1         1
Disbursement Officer   1         1
Project Administrator   1          1
Receptionist   1          1
Office Attendant & Cleaner  1          1
Finance Manager            Vacant
IT Manager  1           1
Comms & Branding Mngr         1    1
Supply Chain Mngt Officer 1 1         2
HR Officer                                                            1                                                      1
Research & Capacity Co.          2                                                                     2
M&E Manager  1         1
M&E Coordinator                           2                                                                                              2 
Communications Officer       1                                                                                                     1

Total Head Count  7 17   1   1   26

5.5 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND 
SAFETY (OHS)

During the year under review, there was no 
health and safety incident reported amongst  
employees. OHS is implemented in partnership 
with the building Landlord for activities such as 
the emergency evacuation drill.

5.6  TABULATED STAFF HEAD COUNT
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5.8 ALLOWANCES

There were no overtime or housing allowances. Acting, cell phone and travelling allowances were imple-
mented.

5.9 EXPENDITURE

Departments budget in terms of clearly defined programmes. The following table summarises  
final audited expenditure by programme.  In particular, it provides an indication of the amount spent on 
the personnel costs in terms of each of the programmes within the Agency.

5.7 DECLARATION OF DIRECTORS EMOLUMENT (EXCLUDING NON EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS)

Programme Personnel  Training Professional & Special 
 Expenditure Expenditure Services

Office of CEO 1,159,000 24,280 3,666,019 
Communications 1,166,563  - -   
Finance  2,680,005 113,074 1,154,068
Projects 6,463,034 73,168 -   
HR and CA 1,883,572 61,350 1,430,529
Internal Audit  2,905,824 49,573 1,434,178 

              16,258,000 321,444 7,684,794 

Personnel Costs by Programme, 2017/2018

Employee   Annual Acting Annual
Name Position Time Period (Acting) Salary Allowance S&T Bonus Total

Donald 
Liphoko,  ACEO 01/01/2017 - 28/02/2017 1,384,500  0 0 0 610,000
William 
Baloyi  ACEO 01/12/2017 - 31/03/2018 1,384,500 0 0 0 263,000

Khululwa Acting 08/10/2017 - 16/12/2017 761,338 286,000 0 0 1,047,338
Seyisi CEO

Trevor  Acting 
Kuodza CFO 31/03/2017 - 28/02/2018 761,338 463,412 0 0 1,097,000

TOTAL         3,017,338
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Overtime
There was no overtime paid during the 2017/18 financial year.

5.10 EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES

The following tables summarise the number of posts in the Agency, the number of employees, 
the vacancy rate and whether there are any staff who are additional to the staff establish-
ment of the Agency. This information is presented in terms of three key variables: programme,  
salary band and critical occupations. The Agency has identified critical positions that need to be  
monitored. The vacancy rate reflects the percentage of posts that are not filled.

Employment and vacancies by programme, 31 March 2018

 Programme  Number of  Number of  Number of  Vacancy rate   Number of 
 posts posts posts filled vacant  filled additional 
     to the Agency

CEO’s office  6  2 4   0
Projects  9  7 2   0
Finance  6  4  2   0
HR and CA  5  5  0   0
Internal Audit 2    1 1   0
Risk Mgt 1 0 1  0
Comms  3  2 1  0   
SM&E                 7 5 2  0

Total  39 26 13 33% 0

Employment and vacancies by salary bands, 31 March 2018

 Programme   Number of Number of posts Number of posts  Number of  
 posts filled vacant posts filled
    additional 
    to the Agency

Lower skilled (level 5)  2 2  0  0
Skilled (levels 9 – 13)  - -  -  -
Highly skilled production 
(levels 14 – 15) 22  18  4  0
Highly skilled supervision 
(levels 16 – 17) 2  1  1  0
Senior management
(levels 19 – 21) 13  5  8  0

Total  39  26  13 0
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 Programme  Number of Number of Number of  Number of 
  posts posts filled posts vacant posts filled 
        additional to
                                                                                                                                      the Agency

CEO & Legal and
Contracts Manager  2   1   1   0
CFO, Finance                   3   1                       1     0 
Manager, IT
Comms Manager              1  1   0   0
Project Director and
Project Managers  3  2   1   0
HR Manager   1   1   1   0
SM&R Director                 3     1                            2                            0
and Managers

 Total   13   7   6   0

5.11 JOB EVALUATION

Job grading was undertaken in the 2017/2018 financial year for alignment with industry and public- 
sector norms. The benchmarking exercise is in process and will be finalised in the 2018/2019 financial 
year. 

5.12 EMPLOYMENT CHANGES

Turnover rates provide an indication of trends in the employment profile of the Agency. The following 
tables provide a summary of turnover rates by salary band and by critical occupations, as well as rea-
sons why staff are leaving the Agency.

Employment and vacancies by critical occupation, 31 March 2018

Annual turnover rates by salary band for the period 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018

 Salary Band  Number of employees Appointments Terminations Turnover
  per band as at  and transfers and transfers Rate
  1 April 2017 into the Agency out of the Agency

Lower skilled (level 5)  2 0 0  0%
Skilled (levels 9 – 13)  0  0  0  0%
Highly skilled production 
(levels 14 – 15) 15  2 0  0%
Highly skilled supervision
(levels 16 – 17) 2  0  1  50%
Senior management
(levels 19 – 21) 6 1  1 14%
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 Occupation  Number of employees Appointments Terminations & Turnover
  per occupation as at and transfers transfers out of  rate
  1 April 2017  into the Agency the Agency
  
CEO & Legal and
Contracts Manager 1 0 0  0%
CFO, Finance Manager,
IT Manager  2 0  1 50%
Project Director and
Project Managers 2 0  0  0%
HR Manager  0 1 0 100%

Total  5 1  1  40%

 Termination type  Number  Percentage of total

Death  0  0
Resignation  2  100%
Expiry of contract  0  0
Dismissal - operational changes  0  0
Dismissal - misconduct  0  0
Dismissal - inefficiency  0  0
Discharged due to ill health  0  0
Retirement  0  0
Transfers to other Public Service Departments  0  0
Other  0  0

Total 2

Total number of employees who left as a
% of the total employment as of 31 March 2018 (26) 8%

There were no promotions by critical occupations and no promotions by salary band.

Annual turnover rates by critical occupation for the period  
1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018

Reasons why staff are leaving the Agency
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Levels  Males    Females     Total
  A  C  I  W  A  C  I  W

Executive/Senior Manager  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0
Manager  2  0  0  0  4  0  0  1  7
Professionals/Specialist  4  2  0  0  11  0  0  0  17
Administrative/Support  0  0  0  0  2  0  0  0  2

Total  6 2 0  0  17 0  0  1  26

Recruitment for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Occupational Band  Males    Females                     
           Total  A  C  I  W  A  C  I  W

Senior Management  0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists
and middle management  0 1  0  0  1  0  0  0  

Total   0  1  0  0  2  0  0  0  

Terminations for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Occupational Band   Males    Females              
          Total  A  C  I  W  A  C  I  W

Senior Management   1 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and   
middle management  1  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  
Skilled technical and academically
qualified workers, junior  
management, supervisors, 
foreman and superintendents  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  

Total   2 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  

5.13 EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The tables in this section are based on the formats prescribed by the Employment Equity Act, 55 of 
1998.

Employment Equity Profile as at 31 March 2018
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5.15 FOREIGN WORKERS

There was one foreign national employed at the 
Agency during the 2017/2018 financial year, but 
he resigned on the 28 February 2018.

5.16 LABOUR RELATIONS

There were no collective agreements entered 
into with trade unions within the Agency during 
the 2017/2018 financial year.

There were two misconduct and disciplinary 
hearings within the Agency during the 2017/2018  
financial year.

There was one grievance lodged within the 
Agency during the 2017/2018 financial year. The 

5.14 PERFORMANCE REWARDS

To encourage good performance, the Agency has granted the following performance awards during 
the year under review. 

Salary Band No of beneficiaries Number of Total Cost  Av Cost per
   employees   employees

Management   8   15  408,034   27,202
Staff   18   23  399,966   17,390 

TOTAL  26   38  808,000   44,592

grievance was attended to but was later referred 
to the CCMA. 

There were three disputes during the 2017/2018 
financial year. One dispute was settled at the  
Labour Court; one dispute was withdrawn; and 
one dispute was referred for conciliation and is 
due for arbitration.

There was no strike action within the Agency 
during the 2017/2018 financial year.

There was one precautionary suspension within 
the Agency during the 2017/2018 financial year. 
The matter has been investigated and the inves-
tigation concluded. The employee is undergoing 
a disciplinary hearing.

Chimba Chibesa (Intern), Zukiswa Potje (Acting Chief Executive Officer) 
and Mcebisi Mthombeni (Intern).
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Sediroa Sithole (Projects Administrator);  
Sibongile Ngwenya (HR & Corporate Affairs Manager)  

and Nompumelelo Maduna (M&E Co-ordinator).

MDDA team visiting MDDA beneficiary Ngqushwa FM.
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MDDA handed over an Outside Broadcast Van to Moletji FM,  

as part of the approved project grant.



PART SIX

ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 
 
Audit committee members and attendance 

Nandipha Madiba (Chairperson)  
Seipati Boulton (Independent member)  
Mvuleni Bukula (Independent member)  
Nombeko Patience Mbava (Appointed 26/01/2018)  
Dalson Modiba (Shareholder representative)  
Palesa Kadi (Board representative; Resigned 05/05/2017)  
Musa Sishange (Alternate board representative; Resigned 27/11/2017)  
Martina Della Togna (Alternative Board representative; 
Appointed 26/01/2018) 

Media Development And Diversity Agency 
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 

6.1 Audit and Risk Committee Report

7 out of 9 
9 out of 9 
8 out of 9 
1 out of 1 
4 out of 9 
0 out of 1 
7 out of 7

1 out of 1 

Audit committee responsibility 

Name of member 

The audit committee consists of the members listed hereunder and should meet 4 times per annum as per its 
approved terms of reference. During the current year 9 meetings were held.

Name of meetings attended

The audit committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 55(1 )(a) (ii) of the 
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. 

The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit 
and Risk Committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein. 

Risk Management

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the entity has an on-going risk management process focused on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of significant risk across all operations. This has 
been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Financial Statements. 

The effectiveness of internal control 

The Audit and Risk Committee  has evaluated the internal control environment and based on the information pro-
vided and  assessed the internal controls are considered inadequate and not  always effective to mitigate risks. 
The  Audit  and  Risk  Committee notes that there is room for improvement to ensure that reasonable effective 
monitoring over the system of internal control is enhanced to mitigate risks as reported by Internal Audit Reports to 
an acceptable level. In line with the PFMA, the internal audit coverage plan was informed by the risk management 
process, the quality of in year management and monthly / quarterly reports submitted in terms of the PFMA and 
the Division of Revenue Act.

The following Internal Audit work was completed during the year under review
• Performance Audit (EEE).
• Supply Chain Management (Fruitless, Wasteful and Irregular Expenditure).
• Network Vulnerability Assessment Test.
• Human Resources, Financial management, Knowledge and Research. 
• Bi annual Financial Statements Review (quarterly financial management reports review).  
• Financial Management Controls Review.
• Compliance Audit.
• Projects and Programmes.
• Audit of Pre-determined objectives.
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Media Development And Diversity Agency 
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 

Audit and Risk Committee Report

Evaluation of audited annual financial statements

The following were areas of concern:
Output
Human Resources 

Performance Information 

Knowledge and Research 

Procurement and Payments 

Programmes and Projects 

Area of concern 
High rate of vacancies. Executive positions in acting capacity. Some 
performance contracts not signed, leave controls deficiencies. Incon-
sistent implementation of human resources policies. 

Completeness, accuracy and relevance of some portifolio of evidence 
against set targets. 

Contract Management. 

Inconsistent compliance with 30 days payment prescript. Deviation 
from competitive bidding processes for awards above R30,000 without 
complying with Preferential Procurement Framework. Appointment of 
consultants not performed in compliance with regulations. Insufficient 
enquiry conducted in relation to irregular, fruitless and wasteful expen-
diture.
 
Online application system for projects not effective. Inconsistent ap-
proval of monitoring and evaluation reports.

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) reviewed the entity's compliance with legal and regulatory provision during 
the quarterly Audit and Risk Committee meetings and management has been directed to implement remedial 
measures where instances of non-compliance were noted.

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report, with  
 the Auditor-General and the board of members; 
• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices; and 
• reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The audit committee has: 

Internal audit 

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the work of the internal audit function and has directed Internal Audit 
to implement remedial measures where instances needing adequate attention were noted and recommended that 
appropriate assurance be enhanced to ensure that it is operating effectively and that it has addressed the risks 
pertinent to the entity and its audit. The audit and risk committee is satisfied with the independence of the internal 
auditors. 

Auditor-General of South Africa
 
The Audit and Risk Committee has invited representatives from the office of the Auditor-General of South Africa 
(AGSA) to attend ARC meetings in the 2017/18 financial year. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied with the 
independence of external auditors from AGSA.

Phuti Nehemia Phukubje
Chairperson of the Audit committee
Date:
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Media Development And Diversity Agency 
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 

6.2 Board Members’ Report

The members submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2018

1. Incorporation

The entity was established in 2003, in terms of the MDDA Act No.14 of 2002 and started providing 
grant funding to projects on 29 January 2004. 

2. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2018, the entity had an accumulated surplus of  
R72,972,000 and that the entity's total assets exceed its liabilities by R72,972,000. 

The audited annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable  
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the  
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business. 

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most  
significant of these is that the members continue to obtain government grants, and subsidies and also  
to procure funding for the ongoing operations for the entity from commercial broadcasters and print 
media houses. 

3. Subsequent events

The members are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year.
 
4. Corporate governance

General 

The accounting authority is committed to business integrity, transparency and professionalism in all  
its activities. As part of this commitment, the accounting authority supports the highest standards of  
corporate governance and the ongoing development of best practice. 

The entity confirms and acknowledges its responsibility to total compliance with the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct ("the Code") laid out in the King Report on Corporate Governance for South  
Africa 2002. The accounting authority discusses the responsibilities of management in this respect at Board  
meetings and monitors the entity's compliance with the code on a three monthly basis.

The salient features of the entity's adoption of the Code are outlined below: 

• retains full control over the entity, its plans and strategy.
•  acknowledges its responsibilities as to strategy, compliance with internal  

policies, external laws and regulations, effective risk management and performance measurement, 
transparency and effective communication both internally and externally by the entity.

•  is of a unitary structure comprising:
 - non-executive directors, all of whom are independent directors as defined in the Code; and 

- executive directors.
• has established a Board directorship continuity programme.

5. Auditors
Auditor-General of South Africa will continue in office for the next financial period.
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Opinion

1.  I have audited the financial statements of the Media Development and Diversity Agency set out 
on pages 85 to 128, which comprise statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the 
statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net asset, cash flow statement 
and statement of comparison of budget information and actual information for the year then 
ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial  
position of the Media Development and Diversity Agency as at 31 March 2018, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA).

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My re-
sponsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities  
for the audit of the financial statements section of this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provided a basis 
for my opinion.

Emphasis of matter

6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Material uncertainty

7. With reference to note 26 to the financial statements, the entity is a defendant in a lawsuit. The 
entity is opposing the claim as it disputes the signed grant funding agreement. The ultimate 
outcome of the matter cannot presently be determined and no provision for the liability that may 
result has been made in the financial statements.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

6.3 Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on Media Development and 
Diversity Agency
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Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the financial statements 

8. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with SA Standards 
of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such internal control as the account-
ing authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

9. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing 
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the accounting 
authority either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

11. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope

12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) 
and ‘the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material  
findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for selected  
programmes presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to identify find-
ings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

13. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on 
the approved performance planning documents of the entity. I have not evaluated the 
completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators/ measures included in the 
planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions 
relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be 
included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to 
these matters.

14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in 
accordance with the criteria developed from the performance management and reporting 
framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected programmes presented in the 
annual performance report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 2018:
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Programmes Pages in the annual 
performance report

38 - 40

42Programme 4 - capacity building and sector development

Programme 2 - grant and seed funding

15. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly 
presented and whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning docu-
ments. I performed further procedures to determine whether the indicators and related targets were 
measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to 
determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

16. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected programmes are as 
follows:

Programme 2: grant and seed funding 
 
Number of direct jobs created in the community broadcast sector

17. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence for the reported achievement of the 
number of direct jobs created in the community broadcast sector. This was due to the evidence 
provided not adequately supporting the achievement reported. I was unable to confirm the 
reported achievement by alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine wheth-
er any adjustments were required to the achievement of 104 as reported in the annual 
performance report.

18. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported  
performance information for Programme 4: capacity building and sector development.

Other matter 

19.  I draw attention to the matter below.

Achievement of planned targets

20. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 34 to 43 for information on the achievement of 
planned targets for the year and explanations provided for the under or over achievement of a num-
ber of targets. This information should be considered in the context of the material findings on the 
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in paragraph 17 of this report. 

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

21. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a  
responsibility to report material findings on the compliance of the entity with specific matters in 
key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express  
assurance. 
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22. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows:

Annual financial statements

23. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed 
financial reporting framework, as required by section 55(1 )(a) of the PFMA. Material misstatements 
in the disclosure notes identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were subse-
quently corrected resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified opinion.

Expenditure management

24.  Effective steps and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to 
R3 214 000 as disclosed in note 33 to the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1 
)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure was caused by non-compliance with 
the Supply Chain Management Regulations.

Consequence management

25.  I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that disciplinary steps were take against 
officials who had incurred irregular expenditure as required by section 51 ( 1 )( e )(iii) of the PFMA. 
This was due to proper and complete records that were not maintained as evidence to support the 
investigations into irregular expenditure.

Other information

26. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report. The other information does not include the financial 
statements, the auditor’s report and those selected programmes presented in the annual perfor-
mance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

27. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and 
compliance with legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion 
or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

28. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing  
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements  
and the selected programmes presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge  
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

29. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement in this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

 Internal control deficiencies

30. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported  
performance information and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my ob-
jective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters reported below are  
limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on the  
annual performance report and the findings on compliance with legislation included in this  
report.
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Leadership

31. The accounting authority failed to quorate and meet regularly, as a result, the decision making  
processes and consistent and effective oversight was inadequate to ensure the provision of  
effective leadership.

32. The accounting authority did not provide adequate monitoring and oversight to ensure that the 
accounting officer was able to provide credible financial and performance reports and ensure  
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. This was due to the long outstanding vacancy in the 
accounting officer position and the continuous change in acting accounting officer.

Financial and performance management

1.  The senior management responsible did not have sufficient controls in place over financial and  
performance reporting and compliance with laws and regulations. Errors and omissions were  
identified in the financial statements, actual achievements on performance targets reported in 
the performance report did not always agree to supporting information and compliance with laws 
and regulations was not adequately monitored. The chief financial officer and director strategic  
monitoring and evaluation positions have been vacant for more than twelve months, impacting 
credible financial and performance reporting.

Governance

2.  Internal audit plans did not always progress as planned and the integrated risk management  
strategy and risk assessment plan was not approved due to the inability of the accounting authority 
to quorate and meet regularly.

Auditing to build public confidence

             A  U  D   I  T   O  R  -  G  E  N   E  R   A  L

                      S   O  U  T  H      A  F  R  I  C A

Johannesburg

31 July 2018
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in acoordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and  
maintain professional scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the  
procedures performed on reported performance information for selected programmes and on the 
entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this 
auditor’s report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether  
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and  
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,  
or the override of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing  
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors, which constitutes the account-
ing authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a  
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on  
the Media Development and Diversity Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s  
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertain-
ty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. 
My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease continuing as a going 
concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may  
reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, related safe-
guards.
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Figures in Rand thousand             Note(s)              2018                   2017

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

6.4 Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018

Assets

Current Assets 
Receivables from exchange transactions 5 717 1,399
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 6 120 21
Cash and cash equivalents 7 104,238 99,698
  105,075 101,118

Non-Current Assets   
Property, plant and equipment 3 2,214 3,218
Intangible assets 4 313 516
  2,527 3,734
Total Assets  107,602 104,852

Liabilities   
 
Current Liabilities   
Finance lease obligation 8 488 507
Payables from exchange transactions 12 4,340 2,042
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 9 28,298 25,631
Provisions 10 765 2,594
Deferred Lease liability 11 186 14
  34,077 30,788
Non-Current Liabilities   
Finance lease obligation 8 553 1,225
Total Liabilities  34,630 32,013
Net Assets  72,972 72,839
Accumulated surplus  72,972 72,839
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Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

6.5 Statement of Financial Performance as at 31 March 2018

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Donations and Insurance rebates  131 -
Interest received - investment 15 5,162 4,816
Total revenue from exchange transactions  5,293 4,816

Revenue from non-exchange transactions   
 
Transfer revenue
Government grants and subsidies 16 30,005 23,814
Revenue from non-exchange transaction - Broadcast funders 17 48,257 45,615
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions  78,262 69,429
Total revenue 13 83,555 74,245

Expenditure   
Employee related costs 18 (16,258) (13,174)
Depreciation and amortisation 21 (1,114) (401)
Finance costs 20 (160) (8)
Grant cost expenditure 34 (46,830) (57,744)
Administrative expenses 22 (17,982) (15,841)
Total expenditure  (82,344) (87,168)
Surplus (deficit) for the year  1,211 (12,923)

The accounting policies on pages 90 to 109 and the notes on pages 110 to 128 form an integral part of the audited 
annual financial statements.

Figures in Rand thousand

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

6.6 Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Accumulated

surplus
Total net
assets

Balance at 01 April 2016 85,762 85,762
Changes in net assets  
Surplus for the year as previously reported (12,923) (12,923)
Total changes (12,923) (12,923)

Opening balance as previously reported  72,839 72,839
Adjustments  
Correction of errors (refer to note 28)  (1,089) (1,089)
Prior year adjustments 11 11
Balance at 01 April 2017 as restated• 71,761 71,761
Changes in net assets 
Surplus for the year 1,211 1,211
Total changes 1,211 1,211
Balance at 31 March 2018 72,972 72,972

Figures in Rand thousand             Note(s)              2018                   2017
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Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

6.7 Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts 
Grants  78,262 88,581
Interest income  5,162 4,816
Donations and Insurance Rebate  131 -

  83,555 93,397
 
Payments
Employee costs  (15,043) (10,609)
Suppliers  (16,353) (17,150)
Grant Cost- Disbursement  (46,830) (57,746)
Finance Cost  (160) (8)

  (78,386) (85,513)

Net cash flows from operating activities 23 5,169 7,884

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (198) (1,036)
Purchase of other intangible assets 4 - (477)
Net cash flows from investing activities  (198) (1,513)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments  (431) (140)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (431) (140)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  4,540 6,231
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  99,698 93,467

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 104,238 99,698

Figures in Rand thousand             Note(s)              2018                   2017
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Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

6.8 Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

 Approved Adjustments Final Budget Actual Difference   Reference
 budget   amounts on between final
    comparable budget and
 Figures in Rand thousand    basis actual

Budget on Accrual Basis

Statement of Financial Performance 

Revenue

Revenue from exchange 
transactions
Insurance rebates - - - 131 131
Interest received - investment 4,549 - 4,549 5,162 613

Total revenue from exchange 4,549 - 4,549 5,293 744
transactions
    
Revenue from non-exchange    
transactions
    
Transfer revenue    
Government grants and 30,005 - 30,005 30,005 -
subsidies    
Revenue from non-exchange 32,183 - 32,183 48,257 16,074
transaction - Other funders    
DoC - Broadcast equipment roll- - 19,829 19,829 - (19,829)
out     

Total revenue from non- 62,188 19,829 82,017 78,262 (3,755)
exchange transactions     

Total revenue 66,737 19,829 86,566 83,555 (3,011)

Expenditure     
Employee related costs (12,911) - (12,911) (16,258) (3,347)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,060) - (1,060) (1,114) (54)
Finance costs (240) - (240) (160) 80
Grant cost expenditure (57,010) - (57,010) (46,830) 10,180
Administrative expenses (15,345) - (15,345) (17,982) (2,637)

Total expenditure (86,566) - (86,566) (82,344) 4,222

Surplus before taxation (19,829) 19,829 - 1,211 1,211

Actual Amount on Comparable (19,829) 19,829 - 1,211 1,211
Basis as Presented in the     
Budget and Actual     
Comparative Statement     
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Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

 Approved Adjustments Final Budget Actual Difference   Reference
 budget   amounts on between final
    comparable budget and
 Figures in Rand thousand    basis actual

Budget on Accrual Basis

Statement of Financial Position 
      
Assets
 
Current Assets
Receivables from exchange 700 - 700 717 17 
transactions
Receivables from non-exchange - - - 120 120 
transactions
Cash and cash equivalents 73,000 - 73,000 104,238 31,238 
 73,700 - 73,700 105,075 31,375 

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 2,816 - 2,816 2,214 (602) 
Intangible assets 1,322 - 1,322 313 (1,009) 
 4,138 - 4,138 2,527 (1,611) 
Total Assets 77,838 - 77,838 107,602 29,764 

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 574 - 574 488 (86) 
Payables from exchange 2,500 - 2,500 4,340 1,840 
transactions
Unspent conditional grants and 7,573 - 7,573 28,298 20,725 
receipts
Provisions 2,000 - 2,000 765 (1 ,235) 
Deferred Lease liability 158 - 158 186 28 
 12,805  12,805 34,077 21,272 

Non-Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 650 - 650 553 (97) 
Total Liabilities 13,455 - 13,455 34,630 21,175 
Net Assets 64,383 - 64,383 72,972 8,589 

Net Assets       
Net Assets Attributable to       
Owners of Controlling Entity       
Reserves
Accumulated surplus 64,383 - 64,383 72,972 8,589 
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1. Presentation of Audited Annual Financial Statements

The audited annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised  
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public  
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These audited annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accor-
dance with historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in 
South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these au-
dited annual financial statements, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Presentation currency

These audited annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the 
entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These audited annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to 
operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the audited annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the audited annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information 
and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these  
estimates which may be material to the audited annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
surplus makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables is calculated on a port-
folio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other 
indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied 
to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is 
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets 
held by the entity is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the counter derivatives) 
is determined by using valuation techniques. The entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are 
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for 
similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used 
to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined 
using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments.

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
6.9 Accounting Policies
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1.3   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional  
disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 10 - Provisions.

Taxation

No provision has been made for income tax as the egency is exempt in terms of Section 10 (1)(A)(1) of the Income Tax 
Act,1962 (Act No.58 of 1962).

The entity has deregistered for VAT in terms of Section 24(1) of the VAT Act of 1991.This was informed by the nature of 
operations of the entity. The entity does not charge taxable supplies to the public and revenue is mainly in the form of 
goverment grants and donations as classified by the Income Tax Act ,1962 (Act No.58 of 1962).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and other assets

The entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for the property,  
plant and equipment waste . This estimate is based on industry norm. Management has increased the depreciation 
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated useful lives.

1.4   Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be 
used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
 • it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;  

 and
 • the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, 
or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). 
If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the definition 
of property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and which 
meet the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant and equip-
ment. Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses

Accounting Policies

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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1.4   Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation 
is restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of  
the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount of  
the asset.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 
The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the  
current period. The decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in 
the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
retained earnings as the asset is used. The amount transferred is equal to the difference between depreciation based 
on the revalued carrying amount and depreciation based on the original cost of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their  
estimated residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluat ion less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluat ions are made with 
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using 
fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 
The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised  in surplus or deficit in the current 
period. The decrease is debited in revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance  existing in the revaluation  
surplus in respect of that asset.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method  Average useful life
 
Furniture and fixtures  Straight line 11 years
Office equipment Straight line 5 years
IT equipment  Straight line 3 years
Computer software Straight line 3 years
Leasehold improvements Straight line 3 years  (Lease term)

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
Accounting Policies
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1.4   Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset ‘s future economic benefits or service potential 
are expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at 
each reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future  
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. 
Such a change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity expectations about the  
residual value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication 
exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it  is included in the  carrying amount  
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 
deficit  when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant  
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of 
the item.

Assets which the entity holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of  
activities, are transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from  
sales of these assets are recognised as revenue. All cash flows on these assets are included in cash flows from  
operating activities in the cash flow statement.

The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the 
financial statements (see note).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the  
financial statements (see note ).

1.5   Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:
 • is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented  

 or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless  
 of whether the entity intends to do so; or

 • arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are  
 transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement  that confers  similar  rights and obligations on the parties to it as if  
it were in the form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
 • it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset  

 will flow to the entity; and
 • the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and 
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist 
over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is 
measured at its fair value as at that date.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Accounting Policies

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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1.5   Intangible assets (continued)

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential.  Amortisation is not  
provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their 
useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefiniteis an indicator 
that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is 
amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not  
recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer software, other Straight line 3 years

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the  
financial statements (see note ).

Intangible assets are derecognised:
 • on disposal; or
 • when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

Change in accounting estimates

Depreciable assets original remaining useful life for computer equipment and office equipment of 9 years has been 
changed to 3 years and 5 years respectively at the beginning of the current period to reflect the actual pattern of service 
potential derived from the assets.Change in estimates will be adjusted prospectively.
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1.6   Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual 
interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial  
liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation  
using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus  
any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

A concessionary loan is a loan granted to or received by an entity on terms that are not market related.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial  liability  from  an  entity’s  statement  
of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
 • Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity  

 price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided  
 in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes  
 called the ‘underlying’).

 • It requires no initial net investment  or an initial net investment that is smaller  than would be required  for other   
 types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

 • It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or  
receipts through the expected life of  the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net  
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall  
estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and  
similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or  
received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (see the Standard of  
GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a  
presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated  
reliably.  However, in those rare cases when it is not possible  to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected 
life of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over  
the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
 • cash;
 • a residual interest of another entity; or
 • a contractual right to:
  - receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
  - exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially   

  favourable to the entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
 • deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
 • exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in  meeting  obligations  associated with finan-
cial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument  will  fluctuate  because of changes  
in  market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
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1.6   Financial instruments (continued)

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of  
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial  
instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counter party has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
A residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as:
 • equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
 • a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction  

 as forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution;  
 or

 • a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in  
 the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, 
issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that 
have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:
 • the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
 • are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:
 • derivatives;
 • combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
 • instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if: 

- it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
  - on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together  

  and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
  - non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are desig- 

  nated at fair value at initial recognition; and
  - financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial  

  instruments at cost.

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity  
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value [if subsequently measured at fair 
value].

The entity first assesses whether the substance of a concessionary loan is in fact a loan. On initial recognition, the 
entity analyses a concessionary loan into its component parts and accounts for each component separately. The entity 
accounts for that part of a concessionaryloan that is:
 • a social benefit in accordance with the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial  

 Statements, where it is the issuer of the loan; or
 • non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Trans- 

 actions (Taxes and Transfers), where it is the recipient of the loan.
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1.6   Financial instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories:
 • Financial instruments at fair value.
 • Financial instruments at amortised cost.
 • Financial instruments at cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not  
active, the entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to  
establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated  
by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between  
knowledgeable , willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially  
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used  
by market participants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable  
estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique 
makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors  
that market participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies  
for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity  
using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or  
repackaging) or based on any available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable 
on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

Derecognition
 
Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:
 • the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;
 • the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial  

 asset; or
 • the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. has  

 transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in  
 its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to  
 impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity :

   - derecognise the asset; and
   - recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and those  
transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are  
measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference between the consideration received and the amounts  
recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer.

If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right  
to service the financial asset for a fee, it recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing  
contract. If the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for performing the servicing, a  
servicing liability for the servicing obligation is recognised at its fair value. If the fee to be received is expected to be more 
than adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset is recognised for the servicing right at an amount  
determined on the basis of an allocation of the carrying amount of the larger financial asset.

If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity obtaining 
a new financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity recognise the new financial 
asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit.
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1.6   Financial instruments (continued)

If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety, 
the previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised 
and the part that is derecognised, based on the relative fair values of those parts, on the date of the transfer. For this 
purpose, a retained servicing asset is treated as a part that continues to be recognised. The difference between the 
carrying amount allocated to the part derecognised and the sum of the consideraiton received for the part derecognised 
is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the transferred asset, the entity continues to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognise 
a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the entity recognises any revenue on the 
transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. Neither the asset, and the associated liability nor 
the revenue, and the associated expenses are offset.

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished - i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different temis is account-
ed for as having extinguished the original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Similarly, a sub-
stantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it is accounted for as having extinguished 
the original financial liability and having recognised a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguishedor  
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities  
assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another entity by 
way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from  
Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

1.7   Prior period Errors

Prior period errors are ommissions from.and mistatementsin,the agency’s financial statements for one or more periods 
arising from failure to use.or misuse of.reliable information that was available and could reasonably be expected to have 
been obtained and taken into account in preparing those statements.

Such errors result from mathematical mistakes.mistakes in applying accounting policies.oversights or misinterpreta-
tions of facts.and fraud.Prior period errors will be adjusted retrospectively.

1.8   Statutory receivables 

Identification

Statutory receivables are receivables that arise from legislation, supporting regulations, or similar means, and require
settlement by another entity in cash or another financial asset.

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position.

The cost method is the method used to account for statutory receivables that requires such receivables to be measured 
at their transaction amount, plus any accrued interest or other charges (where applicable) and, less any accumulated 
impairment losses and any amounts derecognised.

Nominal interest rate is the interest rate and/or basis specified in legislation, supporting regulations or similar means.

The transaction amount (for purposes of this Standard) for a statutory receivable means the amount specified in, or 
calculated, levied or charged in accordance with, legislation, supporting regulations, or similar means.

Recognition

The entity recognises statutory receivables as follows:
 • if the transaction is an exchange transaction, using the policy on Revenue from exchange transactions;
 • if the transaction is a non-exchange transaction, using the policy on Revenue from non-exchange  

 transactions (Taxes and transfers); or
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1.8   Statutory receivables (continued)

 • if the transaction is not within the scope of the policies listed in the above or another Standard of GRAP,  
 the receivable is recognised when the definition of an asset is met and, when it is probable that the future  
 economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity and the transaction  
 amount can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement

The entity initially measures statutory receivables at their transaction amount.

Subsequent measurement

The entity measures statutory receivables after initial recognition using the cost method. Under the cost method, the 
initial measurement of the receivable is changed subsequent to initial recognition to reflect any:
 • interest or other charges that may have accrued on the receivable (where applicable);
 • impairment losses; and amounts derecognised.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises a statutory receivable, or a part thereof, when:
 • the rights to the cash flows from the receivable are settled, expire or are waived;
 • the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the receivable;  

 or
 • the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the receivable, has  

 transferred control of the receivable to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the  
 receivable in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without  
 needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity:

 -    derecognise the receivable; and
 -   recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of any statutory receivables transferred are allocated between the rights or obligations retained 
and those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. The entity considers whether any newly  
created rights and obligations are within the scope of the Standard of GRAP on Financial Instruments or another  
Standard of GRAP. Any difference between the consideration received and the amounts derecognised and, those  
amounts recognised, are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer.

1.9   Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental  
to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element  
separately.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability 
to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in 
the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability.

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
Accounting Policies



M
D

D
A 

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
R

T 
20

17
 - 

20
18

100

1.10   Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return 
means that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a commercial 
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other as-
sets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and 
income tax expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between  
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. 
Useful life is either:
 • the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or
 • the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the entity.

Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to designate assets as cash-generating assets or non-cash   
generating assets, are as follows:

Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a cash-generating asset may be im-
paired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also tests a cash-generating intangible asset with  
an indefinite useful life or a cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing  
its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an intangible 
asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment before the  
end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from  
the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, the entity estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived  
from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal and the entity applies the appropriate discount rate to 
those future cash flows.

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, represented by the  
current risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been  
adjusted.
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1.10   Impairment of cash-generating assets (continued) 

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

Any impairment loss of a revalued cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is  
adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if 
any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Cash-generating units

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the entity determines the recoverable amount 
of the cash  generating unit to which the asset belongs (the asset’s cash-generating unit).

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or group of assets, that asset or group of assets is  
identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used internally. If the cash inflows generated by 
any asset or cash  generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, the entity use management’s best estimate of 
future price(s) that could be achieved in arm’s length transactions in estimating:
 • the future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use; and
 • the future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of any other assets or cash-generating units that  

 are affected by the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from period to period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a 
change is justified.

The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined on a basis consistent with the way the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is determined.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the  
carrying amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the cash-generating assets 
of the unit on a pro rata basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying 
amounts are treated as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:
 • its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);
 • its value in use (if determinable); and
 • zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the 
other cash-generating assets of the unit.

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of that 
non  cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.
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1.10   Impairment of cash-generating assets (continued) 

Reversal of impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  
The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating as-
set is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value 
(if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro rata 
with the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in carrying amounts are treated as reversals of impairment 
losses for individual assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal is allocated to a non-cash-generating asset con-
tributing service potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit. the carrying amount of an asset is not in-
creased above the lower of:
 • its recoverable amount (if determinable); and
 • the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment  

 loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated 
pro rata to the other assets of the unit.

1.11   Share capital/ contributed capital

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

1.12   Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the 
Standard of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to 
pay or fund employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors 
(even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either:
 • the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee  

 benefit obligations; or
 • the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either:
 • an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
 • an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination 
benefits) that are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.
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1.12   Employee benefits (continued)

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past 
practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it 
will accept certain responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other 
parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
   • wages, salaries and social security contributions;
   • short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for 

the absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related employee service;

   • bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; and

   • non-monetary benefits (for example. medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognise the undiscounted 
amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:
   • as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 

undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent 
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

   • as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that in-
crease their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measures 
the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate 
of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the 
payments.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the comple-
tion of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-employment 
benefits for one or more employees.

Multi-employer plans are defined contribution plans (other than state plans and composite social security programmes) 
or defined benefit plans (other than state plans) that pool the assets contributed by various entities that are not under 
common control and use those assets to provide benefits to employees of more than one entity, on the basis that 
contribution and benefit levels are determined without regard to the identity of the entity that employs the employees 
concerned.

1.13   Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
  • the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
  • it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 

settle the obligation; and
  • a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date.

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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1.13   Provisions and contingencies (continued)

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the  
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 
does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is  
no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to 
settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This  
increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 26.

The entity recognises a provision and commitments when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic  
benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made.

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indica-
tions that an outflow of resources may be probable are:
   • financial difficulty of the debtor;
   • defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor;
   • breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the 

ability of the debtor to settle its obligation on the amended terms; and
   • a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact 

on the ability of entities to repay their obligations.

1.14   Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result 
in the outflow of cash.
Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.
Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the fi-
nancial statements, if both the following criteria are met:
   • Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or
  building maintenance services); and 
   • Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity - therefore salary
  commitments relating to employment contracts or social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.15   Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the municipality receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in 
exchange.

Accounting Policies
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1.15  Revenue from exchange transactions (continued)

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties  
in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, is recognised when:
   • It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity,
 and
   • The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
 
Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

1.16   Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which  
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential  
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service  
potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arise when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude  
or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished,  
and  directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another  
entity in exchange.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount  
of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the 
entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent  
to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise  
a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required  
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue.  
When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction  
in the liability is recognised as revenue.

Transfers

Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the  
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset 
and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition

Media Development And Diversity Agency
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1.16   Revenue from non-exchange transactions (continued) 

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind, are recognised as assets and revenue when it is probable that the future  
economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably.

1.17   Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.18   Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds.

1.19 Accounting by principals and agents

Identification

An agent is an entity that has been directed by another entity (a principal), through a binding arrangement, to undertake  
transactions with third parties on behalf of the principal and for the benefit of the principal.

A principal is an entity that directs another entity (an agent), through a binding arrangement, to undertake transactions with  
third parties on its behalf and for its own benefit.

A principal-agent arrangement results from a binding arrangement in which one entity (an agent), undertakes transac-
tions with third parties on behalf, and for the benefit of, another entity (the principal).

Identifying whether an entity is a principal or an agent

When the entity is party to a principal-agent arrangement, it assesses whether it is the principal or the agent in accounting  
for revenue, expenses, assets and/or liabilities that result from transactions with third parties undertaken in terms of the  
arrangement.

The assessment of whether an entity is a principal or an agent requires the entity to assess whether the transactions it  
undertakes with third parties are for the benefit of another entity or for its own benefit.

Binding arrangement

The entity assesses whether it is an agent or a principal by assessing the rights and obligations of the various parties  
established in the binding arrangement.

Where the terms of a binding arrangement are modified, the parties to the arrangement re-assess whether they act as a  
principal or an agent.

Recognition

The entity, as a principal, recognises revenue and expenses that arise from transactions with third parties in a principal   
agent arrangement in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Standards of GRAP.

The entity, as an agent, recognises only that portion of the revenue and expenses it receives or incurs in executing the  
transactions on behalf of the principal in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Standards of GRAP.

The entity recognises assets and liabilities arising from principal-agent arrangements in accordance with the requirements  
of the relevant Standards of GRAP.

1.20   Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.21   Unauthorised expenditure

Unauthorised expenditure means:

Accounting Policies
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1.21 Unauthorised expenditure (continued)

 • overspending of a vote or a main division within a vote; and
 • expenditure not in accordance with the purpose of a vote or, in the case of a main division, not in accordance 

with the purpose of the main division.

All expenditure relating to unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial  
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the  
nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial  
performance.

1.22 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the  statement  of  financial  
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the  
nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial  
performance.

1.23 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including -
 (a) this Act; or
 (b) the State Tender Board Act. 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
 (c) any provincial legislat ion providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms  of sections 76(1) to 76(4)  of the PFMA  
requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before year  
end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular  
expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of updating the note to 
the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is 
being  awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial 
year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned .

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned 
by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register.  
If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable in  
law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery  
is not possible, the accounting  officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose  
such in  the  relevant  note to  the  financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated  
accordingly. If the irregular expenditure  has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related  
thereto must remain against the relevantprogramme/expend iture item, be disclosed as such in the note to the  
financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.24 Accumulated surplus

The accumulated surplus represents the net difference between the total assets and the total liabilities of the entity.  
Any surplus and deficits realised during a specific financial year are credited/debited against accumulated surplus/ 
deficit. Prior year adjustment .relating  to   income   and  expenditure are debited/credited  against   accumulated surplus   
when restrospective adjustments are made.

1.25 Budget information

Entity are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropr iations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 
which is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.
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1.25  Budget information (continued)

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used  
in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on a accrual basis and presented by economic classification linked to performance 
outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 01/04/2017 to 31/03/2018.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities approved budgets under its control.

The audited annual financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison 
with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period have been included in the Statement of comparison of budget and 
actual amounts.

1.26  Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only when the strategic  
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control  
(the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a related 
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not 
control over those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including 
those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to 
perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transaction occurs 
within normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than 
those which it is reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the 
same circumstances and terms and conditions are within the normal operating parameters established by that reporting 
entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the entity discloses narrative information about 
the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial statements to  
understand the effect of related party transactions on its audited annual financial statements.

1.27  Events after reporting date

Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date 
and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
 • those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the  

 reporting date);
  and
 • those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the  

 reporting date).

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting 
date once the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate 
cannot be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Accounting Policies
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1.28  Grants in aid

The entity transfers money to individuals,organisations and other sectors of goverment from time to time.When making 
these transfers.the entity does not :
 • receive any goods or services directly in return,as would be expected in a purchase or sale transaction;
 • expect to be repaid in future;or
 • expects a financial return.as would be expected from an investment.

These transfers are recognised in the statement of financial performance as expenses in the period that the events 
giving rise to the transfer occurred.

1.29  Projects in progress

Projects in progress represents grants received from the department of Communications for funding programme pro-
duction projects and the grant received from MICT-Seta for training of the beneficiaries;the grants are treated as liabili-
ties in the statement of financial position in the year they were received of accrued and reduced by the expense incurred 
on these special projects.

Community media, from all nine provinces, 
attended a Youth Science Journalism  
Workshop held by the South African  
Agency for Science and Technology  
Advancement (SAASTA) and supported  
by the Media Development & Diversity  
Agency (MDDA).
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2018                                 2017

2.     New standards and interpretations

2.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:
 
Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: Expected impact:
 Years beginning on or
 after

GRAP 20: Related parties
 
The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting entity’s audited annual financial statements contain the  
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and surplus or deficit may have been 
affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard  
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:
 •  identifying related party relationships and transactions;
 •  identifying outstanding balances, including commitments, between an entity and its related parties;
 •  identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the items in (a) and (b) is required; and
 •   determining the disclosures to be made about those items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, including commit-
ments, in the consolidated and separate financial statements of the reporting entity in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on  
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. This standard also applies to individual audited annual financial 
statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding balances, including commitments, and relationships with related 
parties may affect users’ assessments of the financial position and performance of the reporting entity and its ability 
to deliver agreed services, including assessments of the risks and opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure also 
ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about its dealings with related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, 
or exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint 
control. As a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:
 • A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the reporting entity if that person:
  -  has control or joint control over the reporting entity; has significant influence over the reporting entity;
  - is a member of the management of the entity or its controlling entity.
 • An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:
  - the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which means that each controlling entity, controlled entity and  

  fellow controlled entity is related to the others);
  - one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an  

  economic entity of which the other entity is a member);
  - both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
  - one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
  - the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity related  

  to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are related to the entity;
  - the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and
  - a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over that entity or is a member of the management of  

  that entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations  
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification of:
 • Close member of the family of a person;
 • Management;
 • Related parties;

Media Development And Diversity Agency
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements

2. New standards and interpretations (continued)
 • Remuneration; and
 • Significant influence

The standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the disclosure of:
 • Control;
 • Related party transactions; and
 • Remuneration of management
The effective date of the standard is not yet set by the Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time when the Minister sets the effective date for the standard. 

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the entity’s audited annual financial statements.

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor

The objective of this Standard is: to prescribe the accounting for service concession arrangements by the grantor, a 
public sector entity.

It furthermore covers: Definitions, recognition and measurement of a service concession asset, recognition and  
measurement of liabilities, other liabilities, contingent liabilties, and contingent assets, other revenues, presentation and 
disclosure, transitional provisions, as well as the effective date.

The effective date of the standard is not yet set by the Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time when the Minister sets the effective date for the standard. 

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the entity’s audited annual financial statements.

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables

The objective of this Standard is: to prescribe accounting requirements for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of statutory receivables.

It furthermore covers: Definitions, recognition, derecognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure, transitional  
provisions, as well as the effective date

The effective date of the standard is not yet set by the Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time when the Minister sets the effective date for the standard. 

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the entity’s audited annual financial statements.

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents

The objective of this Standard is to outline principles to be used by an entity to assess whether it is party to a principal   
agent arrangement, and whether it is a principal or an agent in undertaking transactions in terms of such an  
arrangement. The Standard does not introduce new recognition or measurement requirements for revenue, expenses, 
assets and/or  liabilities that result from principal-agent arrangements. The Standard does however provide guidance  
on whether revenue, expenses, assets and/or liabilities should be recognised by an agent or a principal, as well  
as prescribe what information should be disclosed when an entity is a principal or an agent.

It furthermore covers Definitions, Identifying whether an entity is a principal or agent, Accounting by a principal or agent,  

Presentation, Disclosure, Transitional provisions and Effective date.

The effective date of the standard is not yet set by the Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time when the Minister sets the effective date for the standard. 

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the entity’s audited annual financial statements.
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2.    New standards and interpretations (continued)

GRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements where a Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an 
Asset

This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP provides guidance to the grantor where it has entered into a service 
concession arrangement, but only controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise, a significant resid-
ual interest in a service concession asset at the end of the arrangement, where the arrangement does not constitute a  
lease. This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP shall not be applied by analogy to other types of transaction or 
arrangements.

A service concession arrangement is a contractual arrangement between a grantor and an operator in which the operator 
uses the service concession asset to provide a mandated function on behalf of the grantor for a specified period of time. 
The operator is compensated for its services over the period of the service concession arrangement, either through 
payments, or through receiving a right to earn revenue from third party users of the service concession asset, or the 
operator is given access to another revenue-generating asset of the grantor for it use.

Before the grantor can recognise a service concession asset in accordance with the Standard of GRAP Service 
Concession Arrangements: Grantor, both the criteria as noted in paragraph .01 of this Interpretation of the Standards of 
GRAP need to be met. In some service concession arrangements, the grantor only controls the residual interest in  
the service concession asset at the end of the arrangement, and can therefore not recognise the service concession  
asset in terms of the Standard of GRAP on Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor

A consensus is reached, in this Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP, on the recognition of the performance obliga-
tion and the right to receive a significant interest in a service concession asset.

The effective date of the interpretation is not yet set by the Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the interpretation for the first time when the Minister sets the effective date for the interpre-
tation. 

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the entity’s audited annual financial statements.
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     2018      2017
   Cost /  Accumulated Carrying  Cost /  Accumulated  Carrying   
   Valuation depreciation value  Valuation  depreciation  value   
     and      and
     accumulated     accumulated
     impairment     impairment

Furniture & Fittings    1,075  (922)  153  1,085  (879)  206
Office equipment          900  (399)  501  696  (237)  459 
Computer equipment    1,243  (623)  620  1,282  (413)  869 
Leasehold improvements    1.471  (531)  940  1,732  (48)     1,684 
Office equipment - Leased Printers        383  (383)  -  383  (383)   -
Total    5,072          (2,858)  2,214  5,178  (1,960)  3,218 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018
         
 Opening  Additions Transfers  Transfers Other  Depreciation  Total 
 balance    received    changes,
         movements
Furniture & Fittings    206   -  -  -  -  (53)  153 
Office equipment    459   35  169  -  -  (162)   501 
Computer equipment    869   163  -  (179)  (23)  (210)   620 
Leasehold improvements 1,684   -  -  -  (261)  (483)  940 
 3,218   198  169  (179)  (284)  (908)       2,214

Figures in Rand thousand

Media Development And Diversity Agency
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3.  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017
 
 Opening  Additions  Depreciation  Total 
 balance

Furniture & Fittings   259  -  (53)  206
Office equipment   45  432  (18)  459
Computer equipment   347  605  (83)  869
Leasehold improvements  1,732  -  (48)  1,684
Office equipment - Leased Printers  127  -  (127)  -
  778  2,769  (329)  3,218
 
Pledged as security

None of the above assets have 
been pledged as security:

Assets subject to finance lease 
(Net carrying amount)

Leasehold improvements 940 1,684

Investigations 

Investigations
Computer equipment - 13

A register containing the information required the Public Finance Management Act is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the entity.

Figures in Rand thousand
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4.  Intangible assets

   2018      2017
 Cost /  Accumulated Carrying  Cost /  Accumulated  Carrying  
 Valuation  amortisation value  Valuation amortisation  value
   and      and
   accumulated     accumulated
   impairment     impairment
Licences and software 641  (328)  313  641  (125)  516

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

       Opening  Amortisation  Total 
       balance
Licences and software       516  (203)  313

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017

     Opening  Additions Amortisation  Total 
     balance
Licences and software      110  477  (71)  516

Pledged as security

None of the above intangible assets have been pledged as security. Carrying value of intangible assets pledged as 
security:

A register containing the information required by the Public Finance Management Act is available  for  inspection  at  the 
registered office of the entity.

Figures in Rand thousand
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Figures in Rand thousand
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5.  Receivables from exchange transactions 

Deposits 676 1,122
Other Receivables 41 273
Prepaid expenses - 4
 717 1,399

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed by  
reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

6.  Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Staff debtors 120 21

Credit quality of receivables from non-exchange transactions

The credit quality of other receivables from non-exchange transactions that are neither past nor due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty 
default rates:

7.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand - 2
ABSA - Current account 30,728 41,002
ABSA - Investment accounts 73,510 58,694
 104,238 99,698
 
8.  Finance lease obligation 

Minimum lease payments due
 - within one year 591 695
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 591 1,391
 1,182 2,086
less: future finance charges (141) (354)
Present value of minimum lease payments 1,041 1,732

Present value of minimum lease payments due
 - within one year 488 507
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 553 1,225
 1,041 1,732
 
Non-current liabilities 553 1,225
Current liabilities 488 507
 1,041 1,732
 
The entity’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. 

2018                   2017
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Figures in Rand thousand
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9.  Unspent conditional grants and receipts 

Projects in progress

Unspent conditional grants and receipts

Projects in progress - DoC 8,469 5,802
Projects in progress - DOC Broadcast equipment roll-out 19,829 19,829
 28,298 25,631

Movement during the year

Projects in progress - DoC 8,469 5,802
Projects in progress - DOC Broadcast equipment roll-out 19,829 19,829
 28,298 25,631
 
The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the audited annual financial statements and an indication of 
other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefited; and

Unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that has been recognised. 

See note for reconciliation of grants from National/Provincial Government.

These amounts are invested in a ring-fenced investment until utilised.

10. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018
 
 Opening  Additions Utilised during Reversed  Total 
 Balance  the year  during the year  
Legal proceedings  2,120 98  -  (2,120)     98
Employee costs - provisions 474 667  (474)  -   667
  2,594 765  (474)  (2,120)   765
 
Reconciliation of provisions - 2017

 Opening  Additions Utilised during Total 
 Balance  the year  
Legal proceedings - 2,120 -       2,120
Employee costs - provisions 250 474 (250)    474 
 250 2,594 (250)          2,594
 
11.  Deferreda Leasee liability

Operating Lease - straighlined
Deferred Lease liability - Current portion 186   14
 

The operating lease costs for leashold property were straight-lined from commencement of the rental agreement.  
Thecontract is valid for a period of 36 months. The contract commenced on 1 March 2017 and expires on the 28th of 
February 2020. The lease escalate at 9% p.a and no arrangements have been entered into for contigent rent
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12.  Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 2,951 1,134
Employee related - PAYE, UIF, SOL, Medical aid, Provident contributions  639 214
Employee related - Leave accrual 750 694
 4,340 2,042

13.  Revenue

Donations and Insurance rebate  131 -
Interest received - investment  5,162 4,816
Government grants and subsidies 30,005 23,814
Broadcast and other funders contributions 48,257 45,615
 83,555 74,245

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or 
services are as follows:
Donations & Insurance  131 -
Rebate Interest received - investment 5,162 4,816
 5,293 4,816

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions 
is as follows:
Taxation revenue 
Transfer revenue
Government grants and subsidies  30,005 23,814
Broadcast and other funders contributions 48,257 45,615
 78,262 69,429

14.  Other revenue

Donations & Insurance Rebate 131 -

15.  Investment revenue 

Interest revenue
Bank 5,162 4,816

The amount included in Investment revenue arising from exchange transactions amounted to -.
 
Total interest income, calculated using the effective interest rate, on financial instruments not at fair value through 
surplus amounted to R5,162,000 (2017: R4,816,000).

2018                   2017Figures in Rand thousand
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16.  Grants and subsidies 

Operating grants
Department of Communications (DoC) 30,005 23,814

Conditional and Unconditional

Included in above are the following grants and subsidies received: 

Unconditional grants received 30,005 23,814

Projects in Progress - DoC

Balance unspent at beginning of year  5,802 5,802
Current-year receipts 2,667 -
Conditions met - transferred to revenue - -
 8,469 5,802

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 9).
 
During the year 2008/09,MDDA entered into an MoU wit the Department of Communications (DoC) for Programme 
production project for an amount of R20 million.The management and administration fee levied by MDDA is 10% of the 
grant fund. The MDDA recognised the 10% (R2 000 000) as revenue in 2008/09 financial year.

The Department of Communications (DoC) represents the Executive Authority.which is the controlling entity of the 
MDDA.Due to the nature of this relationship.the two parties are considered as related parties and have also been 
ported as such.

Projects in progress - MICT - SETA
 
Balance unspent at beginning of year  - 677
Conditions met - transferred to revenue - (677)
 - -

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 9).

During 2013/14,the MDDA entered into a MoU with MICT-Seta for training of R3 million. This was disbursed to MDDA in 
tranches. MDDA recognised revenue and equal expense in the period in which the training has been conducted. Project 
has been cancelled and the balance of money received from MICT-Seta to be written off in the 2016/17 financial year. 
This was informed through the follow ups with MICT-Seta due to late reporting by MDDA.

Projects in progress - DOC Broadcast equipment roll-out

Balance unspent at beginning of year  19,829 -
Current-year receipts - 20,873
Conditions met - transferred to revenue - (1,044)
  19,829 19,829
 
Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 9).

During the year 2016/17,MDDA entered into a MoU with the Department of Communications (DoC) for Broadcast equip-
ment support for broadcast projects for an amount of R21 million. The management and administration fee levied by 
MDDA was 5% which is included in the total grant amount.

The MDDA recognised the 5% (R1 043 626.64) as revenue in 2016/17 financial year. The balance of the grant will be 
realised as the spending on the grant occurs.

Figures in Rand thousand
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16.  Grants and subsidies (continued)

The Department of Communications (DoC) represents the Executive Authority.which is the controlling entity of the 
MDDA. Due to the nature of the relationship the two parties are considered as related parties and therefore have been 
disclosed as such.

Soul city grant
 
Current-year receipts - 233
Conditions met - transferred to revenue - (233)
  - -

During the year 2016/17,MDDA entered into an MoU with the Soul City Institute the Soul City Institute found it important 
to collaborate with the MDDA and the Community Broadcast projects in South Africa in order to raise awarenes of GBV 
in schools as a way of reducing the prevalence of the Gender Based Violence (GBV) and related incidences.

This programme will provide training for 37 community radio stations to contribute in advancing or addressing the 
issues relating to GBV by spreading relevant information to the grassroots communities through drama talk show etc. 
It is anticipated that these awareness programmes will serve as an eye opener to school learners or young people so 
they can be able to respond to cases of GBV accordingly in schools and available support provided to GBV survivors.

All workshops were completed in the 2016/17 financial year the funds received from Soul City have been realised as 
revenue in the 2016/17 financial year.

17.  Revenue from non-exchange transaction - Broadcast & other funders

Revenue from non-exchange transaction - Broadcast funders and DoC project  48,257 43,661
Revenue from non-exchange transaction - Soul City grant - 233
Revenue from non-exchange transaction - DoC Broadcast equipment grant  - 1,044
Revenue from non-exchange transaction - MICTSETA - 677
  48,257 45,616

2018                   2017Figures in Rand thousand
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18. Employee related costs
 
Basic salary and leave 12,893 9,249
Bonus 808 564
Unemployment Insurance Fund 46 33
Skills Development Levy 129 93
Provident fund 1,260 892
Gratuity - Contract termination  624 2,120
Medical aid 493 223
  16,258 13,174
 
Remuneration of Mr Donald Liphoko - Acting Chief Executive Officer - (08/05/2017 - 06/10/2017)

Basic Salary - -
Acting Allowance 597 -
Subsistence and travelling 13 -
  610 -
 
Remuneration of Ms Khululwa Seyisi - Acting Chief Executive Officer - (08/10/2017- 06/12/2017)

Basic Salary 171 -
Acting Allowance 109 -
Subsistence and travelling 6 -
  286 -

Remuneration of Mr William Baloyi -Acting Chief Executive Officer - (06/12/2017- 31/03/2018)

Basic Salary 259 -
Subsistence and travelling 4 -
  263 -

Remuneration of Mr Trevor Kuodza - Acting Chief Financial Officer - (11/08/2016 - 28/02/2018)

Basic Salary 632 412
Acting Allowance 425 213
Performance Bonuses 31 -
Subsistence and travelling 9 2
  1,097 627
 

Remuneration of Ms Thembelihle Sibeko - Acting Chief Executive Officer - (01/10/2015 - 31/01/2017)

Basic Salary  - 679 
679Acting Allowance - 675
Performance Bonuses - 45
Subsistence and travelling - 8
  - 1,407

Remuneration of Lindinkosi Ndibongo - Acting Chief Operations Officer - (11/10/2015 - 31/03/2017)

Basic Salary  - 683
Acting Allowance - 581
Performance Bonuses  - 45
Subsistence and travelling - 11
  - 1,320

Figures in Rand thousand
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19. Non-Executive Management Emoluments

Administration and management fees  1,025 1,094
Ms Phelisa Nkomo 405 417
Mr Roland Williams  - 170
Ms Louise Vale 225 131
Ms Palesa Kadi  10 118
Ms Neo Momodu  9 67
Mr Musa Sishange  485 182
Ms Zanele Mngadi 18 97
Dr Nombeko Mbava  75 -
Mr Ronald Lamola 18 - 
Ms Martina Della Togna  108 -
Mr Fezile Soyizwaphi  2 -
Mr Sandile Ndaba 20 -
  2,400 2,275

20. Finance costs

Finance Lease 160 8

21. Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment  911 329
Amortisation - intangible assets 203 72
  1,114 401

22. Administrative expenses

Cleaning 2 -
Professional services costs  5,102 2,890
Fines and penalties  79 -
Refuse 4-
Lease costs - office rental  2,081 2,296
Internal audit 1,434 1,723
External audit 1,149 1,022
Board administration costs 1,261 1,518
Non-executive management emoluments  1,695 1,277
Administration costs 5,175 5,115
  17,982 15,841

2018                   2017Figures in Rand thousand
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23. Cash generated from operations

Surplus (deficit) 1,211 (12,923)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation  1,114 401
Provision - Performance Bonus  667 473
Provision for Audit fees 1,148 -
Movements in operating lease assets and accruals  172 14
Provision - Legal Settlement (3,120) 2,120
Leave provision (356) 221
Changes in working capital:
Inventories - 7
Receivables from exchange transactions  682 (499)
Receivables from non-exchange transactions  (99) (13)
Payables from exchange transactions  1,083 (1,069)
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 2,667 19,152
  5,169 7,884

Figures in Rand thousand
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24. Financial Instrument disclosure

Categories of financial instruments

2018

Financial assets

  At amortised  Total
  cost
Cash and cash equivalents  104,238 104,238
Receivables from exchange transactions  717 717
Receivables from non-exchange transactions  117 117
   105,072 105,072

Financial liabilities
   
  At amortised  Total
  cost
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions  4,338 4,338
Finance lease obligation  1,041 1,041
Unspent conditional grants and receipts  28,298 28,298
Deferred lease liability  186 186
   33,863 33,863

2017
   
Financial assets   
  
  At amortised  Total
  cost
Cash and cash equivalents  99,698 99,698
Receivables from exchange transactions  1,399 1,399
Receivables from non-exchange transactions  21 21
   101,118 101,118

Financial liabilities  

  At amortised  Total
  cost
Payables from exchange transactions  2,042 2,042
Finance lease obligation  1,732 1,732
Unspent conditional grants and receipts  25,631 25,631
Deferred lease liability  14 14
   29,419  29,419

2018                   20172018                   2017Figures in Rand thousand
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25. Commitments 

Grant commitments

The entity has entered into contracts to fund community radio and print projects. Commitments regarding the contracts 
are as follows.

Grant Commitments
Opening balance of Commitments 81,002 78,076
Projects approved in current year 23,314 68,176
Payments made to projects in current year (44,815) (54,807)
Write -backs (8,896) (10,443)
  50,605 81,002
Operating leases - as lessee (expense)
  
Minimum lease payments due  
- within one year 2,046 1,922
- in second to fifth year inclusive 2,230 3,843
  4,276 5,765

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties. Leases are  
negotiated for an average term of three years and rentals are fixed for an average of three years. No contingent rent is 
payable.

Rental expenses relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments 2,045 -

Finance lease obligation 

Minimum lease payments due 2,045 -
 - within one year 488 507
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 553 1,225
  1,041 1,732

Other commitments  

Opening balance 955 301
Additional operating commitments 9 955
Payments for the year (955) (301)
  9 955

Other commitments relate to all approved orders and agreements where the service has not yet been rendered and /
or goods have been received by the Agency. The payment and invoice will accordingly be processed once the invoices 
have been received. At the end of of the 2017/18 financial year the Agency had committed R9 120 ,for its operating 
expenditure. This will be settled in the 2018/19 financial year upon receipt of invoices and the services having been 
rendered.

26. Contingencies

JOBURG POST v MDDA (Contractual Dispute)

There is a legal dispute between Joburg Post and MDDA,in respect of the grant funding agreement signed between 
the two parties. MDDA’s financial exposure is R384 600 depending on the outcome of thedispute which was uncertain 
as at year end.

Figures in Rand thousand
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27. Related parties

Relationships Board Members Refer to note 19
Executive management emonulements  Refer to note 18
Department of Communications Refer to note 16
 
28.  Change in estimate 

Property, plant and equipment

The useful life of computer equipment was estimated in 2017 to be 9 years. In the current period management have 
revised their estimate to 3 years. The useful life of office equipment was estimated in 2017 to be 9 years.In the current 
year management have revised the useful life to 5 years.The effect of these revision has increased the depreciation 
charges for the current and future periods by R 139 608.03.

29.  Prior period errors

During the year management discovered that external audit fees were not accounted for on an accrual basis.The 
adjustment has been processed to accumulated surplus as it relates to different financial years, the annual differenc-
es are not material individually but material when aggregated hence a once adjustment was done to accumulated 
surplus.Accumulated surplus has been restated to R71 761 000.

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follows:

Statement of financial position  
Decrease in accumulated surplus  1,089 - 
 
Statement of financial performance
Decrease in Audit fee expense  (1,089) -

30. Risk management 

Financial risk management
 
The MDDA in the course of normal operations has limited exposure to financial risks e.g liquidity risks and interest 
rate risk.However.the MDDA attempts to manage the following financial risks:.

Liquidity risk

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity 
risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining pe-
riod at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.

At 31 March 2018 Less than 1 Between 1 and Between 2 and Over 5 years 
  year  2 year  5 years   
Payables from exchange transactions   4,286  -  -  - 
Deferred Lease liability  186  -  -  -
Provisions  765  -  -  -

At 31 March 2017 Less than 1 Between 1 and Between 2 and Over 5 years 
  year  2 year  5 years 
Payables from exchange transactions   2,021  -  -  -
Deferred Lease liability  14  -  -  -
Provisions  2,594  -  -  -
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The 
entity only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-par-
ty.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on 
an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent 
rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experi-
ence and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set 
by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using 
major credit cards. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:
 
Financial instrument    2018   2017
Cash and Cash equivalents   104,238  99,698
 
Market risk 

Interest rate risk
 
As the entity has no significant interest-bearing assets, the entity’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates.

31. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2018, the entity had an accumulated surplus of 72,972,000 and that the 
entity’s total assets exceed its liabilities by 72,972,000.

The audited annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets 
and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

32. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure   82  1,156
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure written off  -  (1,156)
    82  - 
 
33. Irregular expenditure
   
Opening balance   6,715  5,325
Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year   3,214  6,715
Less amounts condoned by Accounting authority  -  (5,325)
    9,929  6,715

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification
   
Current year   3,214  6,715
Prior years   6,715  5,325
    9,929  12,040
 

Figures in Rand thousand
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33. Irregular expenditure (continued)

Details of irregular expenditure - current year
   Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings
Contracts extension  Awaiting Investigation outcome  1,778 
Deviations from SCM Regulations  Awaiting Investigation outcome  1,331
Expenditure : Consultant Awaiting Investigation outcome  105
     3,214

34. Grant cost expenditure

Grant disbursements   44,815  55,650
Project tracking expenses  56  50
Workshops and travelling costs  1,959  2,044
    46,830  57,744

The MDDA has been tasked to ensure that an increased disbursement rate is implemented which would enables grant 
recepients to obtain access to funds much easier and quicker.This has resulted in an increased disbursement rate in 
the 2016/17 financial year. The MDDA has committed to ensuring that grant funds which have accrued in the account 
are fully disbursed to the respective projects.

35. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

Income : Actual income from broadcast funders was higher than anticipated because of the discretionary grant that the 
agency received from one of the funders and funds that were received from the accounting authority for the Department 
of Communications roll out program.

Expenditure : Grant cost Underspending on the projects was due to less projects being approved because of the non 
quorating board.

Current Assets : MDDA received a significant amount from Broadcast funders and less projects were approved for 
disbursement resulting in the agency accumulating more funds in the bank.

Current Liabilities : The difference is mainly due to conditional grants received, these amounts were raised as a liability 
until the contracts are signed and expenses paid for.

2018                   20172018                   2017Figures in Rand thousand
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MDDA team at the Minister of Communications Budget Vote,  
with the Deputy Minister, Ms Pinky Kekana.

Alfred Nzo Community Radio Station celebrating its 10th anniversary.
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